# COMPILED REPORTS TO THE GREAT LAKES FISHERY COMMISSION OF THE ANNUAL BOTTOM TRAWL AND ACOUSTICS SURVEYS FOR 2016



2017

PREPARED BY THE U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY, GREAT LAKE SCIENCE CENTER



Suggested Citation

USGS (U.S. Geological Survey). 2017. Compiled reports to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission of the annual bottom trawl and acoustics surveys for 2016 [online]. Available from http://www.glfc.org/pubs/lake\_committees/ common\_docs/CompiledReportsfromUSGS2017.pdf [accessed day-month-year].

# **Table of Contents**

Great Lakes Prey Fish Populations: A Cross-Basin Overview of Status and Trends Based on Bottom Trawl Surveys, 1978-20161
Owen T. Gorman
Status and Trends in the Lake Superior Fish Community, 201613
Mark R. Vinson, Lori M. Evrard, Owen T. Gorman, and Daniel L. Yule
Status and Trends of Pelagic Prey Fish in Lake Huron, 201625
Timothy P. O'Brien, Peter C. Esselman, Steve Lenart, Steve Farha, Patricia Armenio, Chris Olds, and Lynn Ogilvie
Status and Trends of Prey Fish Populations in Lake Michigan, 2016
David B. Bunnell Charles P. Madenjian, , Timothy J. Desorcie, Melissa J. Kostich, Patricia Armenio, and J. V. Adams
Status and Trends of the Lake Huron Offshore Demersal Fish Community, 1976-201654
Stephen C. Riley, Edward F. Roseman, Darryl W. Hondorp, Margret A. Chriscinske, Emily Galassini, and McKenzie Smith
Status of Pelagic Prey Fishes in Lake Michigan, 201667
David M. Warner, Randall M. Claramunt, Dale Hanson, Timothy Desorcie, and Timothy P. O'Brien, Patty Armenio, Lynn Ogilvie, and Kevin Donner

# Great Lakes Prey Fish Populations: A Cross-Basin Overview of Status and Trends Based on Bottom Trawl Surveys, 1978-2016<sup>1</sup>

Owen T. Gorman

U.S. Geological Survey Great Lakes Science Center Ann Arbor, MI 48105

#### Introduction

Assessments of Great Lakes prey fishes have been conducted annually with bottom trawls since the 1970s by the Great Lakes Science Center and in some lakes in cooperation with partner agencies. These assessments provide data on the status and trends of prey fishes that are consumed by important commercial and recreational fishes. Although all these annual surveys are conducted using bottom trawls, they differ among the lakes in the proportion of the lake covered (Figure 1), seasonal timing, trawl gear used, and the manner in which the trawl is towed (across or along bottom contours). To reduce potential bias associated with different sampling designs, population indices for prey fish were standardized to the highest value for a time series within each lake for the following species: Cisco (*Coregonus artedi*), Bloater (*C. hoyi*), Rainbow Smelt (*Osmerus mordax*), Alewife (*Alosa pseudoharengus*), and Round Goby (*Neogobius melanostomus*). In this report, standardized population indices are presented in graphical form along with synopses to provide a short, informal cross-basin summary of the status and trends for principal prey fishes.

#### Methods

For lakes Superior, Huron, Michigan and Ontario, standardized relative indices of biomass for age-1 and older fishes (Cisco, Bloater, Alewife, Rainbow Smelt) were calculated as the observed value divided by the maximum value observed over a 1978-2016 times series. For Round Goby, standardized relative indices for age-0 and older fishes were calculated from biomass for all lakes but Erie where the relative index was based on available density data. Thus, cross-lake trends in Round Goby were represented by measures of relative abundance.

For each lake, standardized relative indices of density of the juveniles of each species present (Cisco, Bloater, Alewife, Rainbow Smelt) were calculated as the observed value divided by the maximum value observed over the 1978-2016 times series. In each lake, densities of juvenile age-classes that best predicted the magnitude of future recruitment are used to index year-class strengths. Differences in the timing of surveys across lakes and differences in methodology used to distinguish juvenile age classes resulted in adopting different age-classes (e.g., age-0, age-1, age-3) to index year-class strength for each species and lake. Year-class strengths were based on age-correlated size classes of Cisco, Bloater, and Rainbow Smelt in Lake Superior and Alewife in Lake Michigan. For other species and lakes, age-classes were assigned based on fish length cut-offs.

The Kendall coefficient of concordance (*W*) was calculated to determine if the time series of relative abundances for a given species was statistically "concordant" across 2 or more lakes. *W* can range from 0 (complete discordance or disagreement) to 1 (complete concordance or agreement). Concordance can be expressed as

<sup>1</sup> Presented at: Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Committees Meeting, 20-24 March 2017. The data associated with this report have not received final approval by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) and are currently under review. The Great Lakes Science Center is committed to complying with the Office of Management and Budget data release requirements and providing the public with high quality scientific data. We plan to make all USGS research vessel data collected between 1958 and 2016 publicly available from the GLSC website later in 2017. The available from the GLSC

website later in 2017. The anticipated citation will be <u>http://doi.org/10.5066/F75M63X0</u>. Please direct any immediate questions to our Information Technology Specialist, Scott Nelson, at <u>snelson@usgs.gov</u>.

either a fraction or percent. A smaller *P*-value for *W* indicates a greater probability of agreement in comparison of trends.

When making statistical comparisons of trends among lakes, data were restricted to years when all or a group of lakes were sampled. For all lakes, data from 1992, 1993, 1998, and 2000 were omitted from statistical comparisons because missing or atypical data were collected in one or more lakes. Comparisons with Lake Erie were restricted to 1990-2016, years when multi-agency surveys with a consistent sample design were conducted. Assessment of cross-basin trends for Round Goby begins with 1994, the first year that these fish were detected in bottom trawl surveys in the Great Lakes.



**Figure 1.** – Array of bottom trawl sampling locations for prey fish surveys in the Great Lakes used in this report. Records of biomass of age-1 and older fish and densities of age-0, age-1 and age-3 fish used for indexing year classes from these locations were used for cross-lake comparisons.

#### Results

#### Relative Biomass, Prey Fish

Relative combined biomass of pelagic prey fish (Cisco, Bloater, Rainbow Smelt, Alewife) in lakes Superior, Michigan, Huron and Ontario for the 1978-2016 time series trended downward, but were weakly concordant (Fig. 2; W = 0.42; P < 0.01). However, there were no pair-wise agreements in trends with Ontario and other lakes (P > 0.72). When the comparison is limited to lakes Superior, Michigan and Huron, the concordance in trends increases substantially (W = 0.79; P < 0.0001). Comparisons of combined prey fish biomass with Lake Erie over 1990-2016 were not concordant (W = 0.21; P > 0.40).

Composition of the prey fish assemblages in the lakes varied over the time series. In Lake Superior, Rainbow Smelt dominated the assemblage early in the time series and following resurgence of coregonids in the early 1980s, Cisco and Bloater dominated the assemblage thereafter. Early in the Lake Michigan time series, Alewife dominated the assemblage and Bloater dominated the assemblage through the late 1990s. Although Rainbow Smelt resurged in the early 1980s, they were a relatively minor component of the Michigan assemblage through the mid-1990s and declined to low levels thereafter. In the 2000s, Round Goby became a minor component of the assemblage and by 2015 Rainbow Smelt and Alewife reached very low levels. Trends in the Lake Huron

prey fish assemblage contrasted somewhat with that of Michigan. Alewife and Rainbow Smelt dominated the assemblage through the 1990s, though Bloater became an important component of the assemblage in the 1990s following resurgence in the early 1980s. After 2002, prey fish biomass declined sharply. Following a nadir in 2008, the prey fish assemblage recovered somewhat but Bloater now dominated the assemblage, the result of recruitment from a succession of new cohorts. By 2013, Alewife and Rainbow Smelt had become rare components of the prey fish assemblage. The Lake Ontario prey fish assemblage was consistently dominated by Alewife over the time series. Rainbow Smelt, a minor component in the assemblage, declined to low levels after 2000 while Round Goby became a minor component of the assemblage. Without the provisional correction applied to data after 1996, the biomass trend in Ontario was downward through the time series (dashed line, Figure 2). In Lake Erie, Rainbow Smelt was the dominant component of the prey fish assemblage over the 1990-2016 time series. Following the appearance of Round Goby in the mid-1990s, this species expanded to become a co-dominant component of the assemblage through 2008. Afterwards, abundance of Rainbow Smelt increased relative to Round Goby.



**Figure 2.** – Standardized indices of total biomass of pelagic prey fish (Cisco, Bloater, Rainbow Smelt, Alewife, and Round Goby) in lakes Superior, Michigan, Huron and Ontario for 1978-2016 and 1990-2016 for Lake Erie. Dashed line in the Lake Ontario panel shows total predicted total relative prey fish biomass without application of corrections after 1996 (Weidel et al. 2017a ,b).





#### **Relative Biomass, Age-1 and Older Coregonids**

Trends in relative biomass of age-1 and older coregonids (Cisco in Lake Superior and Bloater in lakes Superior, Michigan, and Huron) among the 1978-2016 time series were significantly concordant (Fig. 3; W = 0.67; P < 0.0001). Although Cisco is a rare species in Lake Ontario (maximum mean biomass, density, 1986: 0.89 kg/ha; 0.08 fish/ha; minimums are zero), it was regularly captured in low numbers throughout the time series. When the Lake Ontario Cisco relative biomass trends are included in a comparison of trends in the lakes, the trends remain significantly concordant (Fig. 3; W = 0.56; P < 0.0001), but is not concordant with the trend in Lake Superior Cisco (P > 0.21). Comparison of trends in biomass of Bloater in lakes Superior, Michigan, Huron, showed significant concordance (W = 0.65; P < 0.001). Trends in Cisco and Bloater biomass in Lake Superior showed strong agreement (r = 0.72, P < 0.01).

In all four lakes, coregonid biomass reached peak levels in the late 1980s through the early 1990s. Afterwards, coregonid biomass declined and reached historically low levels in lakes Superior and Michigan in 2007-2011.

Cisco biomass in Lake Ontario was initially higher than in other lakes (before 1982) and declined sooner (after 1992) than in the other lakes, a difference that contributed to a lack of concordance with other lakes. In difference to trends in the other lakes, biomass of Bloater in Lake Huron rebounded following a record low in 2008 to 75% of peak biomass in 2012, due to the recruitment and growth of strong 2005 and 2007 and moderate 2008 and 2011 year-classes (Figs. 3, 7). Although Huron's Bloater biomass has trended downward since the 2012 peak, recruitment from a record 2013 year class and moderate 2014 and 2015 year classes may boost future biomass. Bloater were absent from survey catches in lakes Erie and Ontario, and Cisco were rarely encountered in lakes Michigan, Huron, and Erie.



**Figure 4.** – Standardized indices of biomass for age-1 and older Alewife in lakes Superior, Michigan, Huron, and Ontario, 1978-2016. Dashed line in the Ontario panel shows predicted relative biomass without application of provisional corrections to data after 1996.

#### Relative Biomass, Age-1 and older Alewife

Trends in relative biomass of age-1 and older Alewife across lakes Superior, Michigan, and Huron were variable, though biomass was generally higher early in the time series and lower in more recent years (Fig. 4). For these three lakes, there was strong concordance (W = 0.73; P < 0.0001) among the 1978-2016 time series. There was no concordance in trends of Alewife in Lake Ontario and other lakes (Fig. 4; W < 0.5; P > 0.5). A change in depth distribution of Alewife in Ontario after 1996 necessitated a correction in estimated biomass; a provisional correction was implemented for the 2016 analysis (Weidel et al. 2017a,b).

In Lake Michigan, biomass of Alewife was high in the late 1970s and rapidly declined to lower levels by the mid-1980s. After a minor peak in 2002, the result of recruitment of the extremely large 1998 year-class, Alewife biomass remained relatively low during the late 1980s, 1990s, and early 2000s. After 2002, Alewife biomass continued to decline but the trend was punctuated by a minor peak in 2013 that was due to a very large Alewife catch at the 9-m station at Saugatuck (Madenjian et al. 2014). Consequently, there was a high degree of uncertainty associated with this 2013 observation, which was resolved by sharp declines afterwards, reaching near-zero in 2015 and 2016. In Lake Huron, biomass of Alewife was high in the beginning of the time series,

declined to low levels in the mid-1980s, but unlike Lake Michigan, fluctuated widely in the late 1980s – mid 1990s with peaks in 1987 and 1994 and an intervening low in 1990-1991. After 1994, biomass declined to 18% of peak abundance in 1996, rebounded to 36% in 2002 and afterwards declined to near-zero levels in 2004-2011, 2013-2014, zero in 2015, and near zero in 2016. Following the application of provisional corrections to data collected after 1996, Alewife biomass in Lake Ontario appeared to be highly variable with no apparent trend. To put the trends in Alewife abundance in lakes Michigan, Huron and Ontario in perspective, it should be noted that during the mid-1960s Alewife is a rare species in Lake Superior, the pattern of biomass decline followed that of other Great Lakes; once Lake Trout populations were fully recovered in the late 1990s, relative biomass has remained low. For Lake Superior, maximum reported Alewife biomass and density, 1978: 0.14 kg/ha and 0.01 fish/ha; minimums are zero. Survey data for Alewife in Lake Erie were not available for this comparison.



**Figure 5.** – Standardized indices of biomass for age-1 and older Rainbow Smelt in lakes Superior, Michigan, Huron, and Ontario, 1978-2016.

#### Relative Biomass, Age-1 and Older Rainbow Smelt

Age-1 and older Rainbow Smelt in lakes Superior, Michigan, Huron, and Ontario showed a highly concordant trend of fluctuating but declining relative biomass during 1978-2016 (Fig. 5; W = 0.80; P < 0.0001). In Lake Superior, biomass was at or near-record lows in 2002-2004, recovered to 15% of peak biomass by 2006, and then declined afterwards, reaching near-record lows in 2012, 2013, 2016 and a record low in 2015. Similarly, biomass in Lake Michigan was near record lows during 2001-2003, rose nearly 4-fold in 2005, and then declined to record lows in 2012-2014, 2016 and near-zero in 2015. Mirroring the Michigan pattern, biomass in Lake Huron declined to near-record lows in 2002-2003, increased to 13% in 2004 and then declined to record lows in 2008-2009, but differing from the Michigan pattern, biomass increased to 6-8% of peak biomass in 2010-2012. Then in 2013-2014, biomass dropped again, reaching a record low in 2015 and recovering slightly in 2016. A similar pattern was observed in Lake Ontario where biomass reached a near-record lows in 2006-

2009 and was followed by a weak recovery 2010, and decline to near record lows in 2014-2016. Survey data for age-1 and older Rainbow Smelt in Lake Erie were not available for this comparison.

### Relative Abundance, Age-0 and older Round Goby

Weak agreement in trends in relative abundance of age-0 and older Round Goby (W = 0.46; P = 0.01) was observed among lakes where this species has become established (lakes Michigan, Huron, Erie, and Ontario; Fig. 6). Increased agreement in trends among lakes was hindered by the desynchronized expansion of Round Goby populations. The first records occurred in Lake Erie, followed by Lake Huron and then by lakes Ontario and Michigan. Following several peaks in 2001, 2004, and 2007, relative abundance of Round Goby in Lake Erie in 2010-2016 declined to the lowest levels since the initial stages of expansion but was punctuated by small peaks in 2011 and 2015; this pattern is suggestive of nearing equilibrium. After what appears to have been a similar pattern of expansion and decline in Lake Huron, relative abundance of Round Goby observed in 2013 in Lake Michigan was followed by  $\geq 90\%$  decline afterwards. Round Goby relative abundance in Lake Ontario was highly variable over the time series; after initial detection in 2003, abundance increased rapidly, peaking in 2006 but then underwent a series of peaks and declines thereafter. Round Goby relative abundance showed a considerable year-to-year variability in lakes Michigan, Huron, and Ontario, suggesting that impending population equilibrium remains uncertain. Round Goby have not been caught in annual bottom trawl surveys in Lake Superior.



**Figure 6.** – Standardized indices of abundance for Round Goby in lakes Michigan, Huron, Ontario, and Erie, 1994-2016. Indices are computed from number caught in Lake Erie and weight caught in all other lakes.

### Year-Class Strengths, Coregonids

Trends in relative strengths of 1977-2015 coregonid year-classes showed weak to moderate agreement (W = 0.47; P = 0.001) among lakes Superior, Michigan, and Huron (Fig. 7). Superior Cisco and Bloater trends were

highly correlated (W = 0.83; P < 0.01). Restricting the comparison to Superior vs. Michigan Bloater yielded strong agreement (W = 0.80; P = 0.01); no other inter-lake comparisons showed significant agreement.

Lakes Superior, Huron and Michigan shared a common pattern of stronger year-classes in the 1980s and weaker year-classes in the 1990s. Lake Superior was unique in have moderate year-classes of coregonids in 1998 and 2003. Trends in relative year-class strengths of coregonids among these lakes showed higher concordance before the advent of a succession of strong and moderate year-classes in Lake Huron after 2004 (1977-2004; W = 0.57; P < 0.0004). The appearance of small 2014 and 2015 Bloater year classes in Lake Superior is notable as is the appearance of a moderate 2016 Bloater year class in Lake Michigan. Bloater were absent from survey catches in lakes Erie and Ontario and Cisco are rarely encountered outside of Lake Superior.



**Figure 7.** – Standardized indices of densities for age  $\leq 1$  Ciscoes (Cisco and Bloater) in lakes Superior, Michigan, and Huron, 1977-2016 year classes.

#### Year-Class Strengths, Alewife

Using relative abundances of Alewife at age-3 in Lake Michigan, age-0 in Lake Huron, and age-1 in Lake Ontario (the accepted age groups for indexing year-class strengths in these lakes), there was no agreement in trends (W = 0.38; P = 0.56) among the 1977-2013 year-classes (Fig. 8). Agreement remained nonsignificant when relative abundances of Alewife at age-0 in Lake Michigan (1977-2015 year classes) were substituted in the comparison (W = 0.40; P = 0.20). But when this comparison limited to Michigan and Huron 1977-2015 age-0 year classes, there was significant agreement in trends (W = 0.75; P = 0.03). However, this concordance is likely an artifact of decreased catchability of age-0 Alewife in Michigan after 1990, due in part to shifting fall sampling to an earlier date (Madenjian et al. 2005). Low abundances of age-0 Alewife in Huron after 2003 can be explained by very low abundances of adults after 2004 (Figure 4). Declines in adult Alewife biomass in Michigan after 2013 will likely lead to very low abundances of juveniles in the future. No other inter-lake comparisons showed agreement in trends. Alewife densities were too low in Lake Superior to assess year-class strengths. Trends in abundances of age-0 fish in lakes Michigan were higher but variable prior to 1991 and afterwards fluctuated about near-zero levels. As mentioned previously this decline was likely the result of a shift in fall sampling to an earlier date when age-0 fish were smaller and less vulnerable to bottom trawls. Trends in abundance of age-3 Alewife in Michigan remained variable over the time series with spikes in 1998 and 2010 and ending with three successive years of very low abundances in 2011-2013. Trends in abundance of age-0 fish in Huron were variable until 2003 when a record year-class appeared; afterwards abundances were low and fluctuated about near-zero levels. As noted previously, this shift appears tied to the near-disappearance of adult Alewife in Huron in 2004. Trends in year-class strengths in Ontario were variable with no discernible trends, although the application of provisional corrections to data after 1996 resulted in reduced relative densities of year-class strengths prior to 1997 (Figure 8). However, beginning with the record 1998 year class, a series of near-record year classes were produced in 2005, 2009, 2012. Alewife is a rare species in Lake Superior and survey data for Lake Erie were not available for this comparison.

Comparisons of densities of different ages of juvenile Alewife are problematic because abundances at age-0, age-1, and age-3 are affected by differential survivorship, and as mentioned, the timing of sampling of age-0 fish can greatly affect their vulnerability to bottom trawls. For this reason age-3 Alewife are used to assess year class strengths in Lake Michigan (Madenjian et al. 2005, 2015). Thus it is not surprising that comparison of trends in relative abundances of juvenile Alewife across the three lakes showed no agreement when mixed ages were considered.



**Figure 8.** – Standardized indices of Alewife densities measured at age 0, 1 or 3 in lakes Michigan, Huron, and Ontario, 1977-2016 year classes. Dashed line in the Lake Ontario panel shows predicted relative densities without application of provisional corrections to data after 1996 (Weidel et al. 2017a, b).

#### Year-Class Strengths, Rainbow Smelt

Trends in relative strengths of Rainbow Smelt year-classes across lakes Superior, Michigan, Huron, and Ontario from 1977 to 2015 showed weak but significant agreement (Fig. 9; W = 0.38; P < 0.03). When the comparison was limited to lakes Superior, Michigan, and Huron, the agreement was nonsignificant (W = 0.39; P = 0.24). Paired comparisons among the lakes showed agreement between lakes Superior and Michigan (W = 0.79; P < 0.02), Superior and Ontario (W = 0.77; P < 0.03), and Michigan and Ontario (W = 0.67 P < 0.09).



**Figure 9.** – Standardized indices of Rainbow Smelt densities measured at age-1 in lakes Superior and Ontario and at age <=1 in lakes Michigan, Huron and Erie, 1977-2016 year classes.

In Lake Superior, year-class strengths of Rainbow Smelt varied from moderate to strong during 1977-1996, subsequently declined to weak levels in 1999-2002, and varied from weak to moderate in 2003-2009 and reached a record low in 2011 and near-record lows in 2010 and 2013-2014. In Lake Michigan, year-class

strengths declined steadily from 1980 to 2001; afterwards the downward trend was punctuated by moderately strong year-classes in 2005 and 2008, and achieved a near-record low in 2007 and a record low in 2014. A small uptick to 8% of maximum was achieved in 2016. In contrast, year-class strengths in Lake Huron were moderate to weak over the first 21 years of the 37-year time series, and beginning with 1999 an alternating a series of moderate to strong and weak year classes emerged; 2005 marked the strongest year class and 2010 and 2016 marked the weakest year classes on record. In Lake Ontario, year-class strengths prior to 1999 exhibited a "saw-tooth" pattern caused by alternating strong and weak year-classes. This pattern was not discernible during 1999-2015 due to a succession of weak year classes punctuated by moderate year classes in 2003 and 2011.

#### **Summary**

Among lakes Superior, Huron, Michigan, and Ontario, there was agreement in the trends of age-1 and older biomass for all prey species, however, prey fish biomass trends in Ontario were not concordant with other lakes. That discord follows the application of a provisional correction in 2016 to Lake Ontario prey fish biomass data collected after 1996; in prior cross-basin reports there was general concordance in trends in prey fish biomass with lakes Superior, Michigan and Huron. When trends for individual species among the lakes are compared, the concordance was greatest for coregonids and Rainbow Smelt, and weak concordance for Alewife. For coregonids, the highest biomass occurred from the late 1980s to the early 1990s and relatively low biomass after 2000 (with Huron as the exception). Rainbow Smelt biomass declined slowly and erratically during the last quarter century and reached record low levels in the 2000s. In general, Alewife biomass in lakes Huron and Michigan was substantially higher during the 1980s and 1990s compared with the post-2003 era, when biomass declined to record low levels. In contrast, Alewife biomass in Lake Ontario was highly variable but without an evident trend. This result for Lake Ontario also contrasts with previous reports and comes as the result of applying a provisional correction in 2016 to prey fish data collected after 1996 (Weidel et al. 2017a, b).

Recently, Lake Huron has shown resurgence in Bloater biomass, achieving 75% of its maximum record in 2012 due to recruitment of a succession of strong and moderate year-classes that appeared in 2005-2011 and the largest on record in 2013. With favorable recruitment of the moderate 2014-2015 year classes, biomass may be sustained in the near future, though the decline in recent increases in biomass remains unexplained. Resurgence of Bloater in Lake Huron notwithstanding, the general concordance in population trends of Bloater and Cisco across the Great Lakes supports hypotheses for large-scale environmental factors influencing the synchrony of recruitment in Great Lakes coregonids.

In general, trends in densities of juvenile prey fishes were less concordant than population biomass across the basin and only coregonids showed statistical agreement across the upper Great Lakes (data on year-class strengths for Lake Ontario Cisco were not available). The appearance of strong and moderate year-classes of Bloater in Lake Huron in 2005-2015 countered the common trend of weak year-classes of coregonids in lakes Michigan and Superior. However, the appearance of a moderate year-class of Bloater in Michigan in 2016 is the largest since the 1990 year-class. There was no agreement in cross-basin trends in year-class strengths for Rainbow Smelt and Alewife, although there was agreement between pairs of lakes for Rainbow Smelt.

Although there was statistical agreement in trends of age-0 and older Round Goby relative abundance among lakes where this species has successfully invaded (Michigan, Huron, Erie, and Ontario), temporal patterns were different in each lake. Recent trends in relative abundance of gobies remain highly variable in lakes Huron, Michigan and Ontario, suggesting that impending population equilibrium in these lakes remains uncertain. The pattern of increase, peak and decline of goby abundance in Lake Erie suggests an approaching equilibrium. Although the recent trends in goby abundance among these lakes is mixed, there is mounting evidence that Round Goby has become increasingly important in the diets of Lake Whitefish and typical piscivores, e.g., Lake Trout, Walleye, Smallmouth Bass, Yellow Perch, Lake Whitefish, and Burbot in lakes Michigan, Huron, Erie, and Ontario (He et al. 2015). Round Goby continue to be absent from spring bottom trawl assessments in Lake Superior, but their presence in the harbors and embayments of Duluth and Thunder Bay (U.S. Geological Survey and Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources, unpublished data), suggests that there is potential for future colonization.

### Acknowledgments

USGS scientists and technicians Mark Vinson, Daniel Yule, Lori Evrard, Charles Madenjian, David Bunnell, Timothy Desorcie, Mellissa Kostich, Edward Roseman, Stephen Riley, Timothy P. O'Brien, Richard Kraus, Patrick Kocovsky, Brian Weidel, Brian Lantry, and Maureen Walsh contributed to data used in this report. New York State Department of Environmental Conservation scientist Michael Connerton participated in Lake Ontario data collection. Participants collaborating in the collation of data from Lake Erie included John Deller and Eric Weimer (Ohio Department of Natural Resources), Jim Markham (New York State Department of Environmental Conservation), Chuck Murray and Mike Hosack (Pennsylvania Fish and Boat Commission), and Andy Cook and Paulette Penton (Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources and Fisheries).

All GLSC sampling and handling of fish during research are carried out in accordance with guidelines for the care and use of fishes by the American Fisheries Society (<u>http://fisheries.org/docs/wp/Guidelines-for-Use-of-Fishes.pdf</u>).

### **Literature Cited**

- He, J.X., Bence, J.R., Madenjian, C.P., Pothoven, S.A., Dobiesz, N.E., Fielder, D.G., Johnson, J.E., Ebener, M.P., Cottrill, R.A., Mohr, L.C., Koproski, S.R. 2015. Coupling age-structured stock assessment and fish bioenergetics models: a system of time-varying models for quantifying piscivory patterns during the rapid trophic shift in the main basin of Lake Huron. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 72, 7–23.
- Madenjian, C.P., Höök, T.O., Rutherford, E.S., Mason, D.M., Croley T.E. II, Szalai, E.B., Bence, J.R. 2005. Recruitment Variability of Alewives in Lake Michigan. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 134:1, 218-230, DOI:10.1577/FT03-222.1
- Majenjian, C.P., Bunnell, D.B., Desorcie, T.J., Kostich, M.J., Armenio, P.M., Adams, J.V. 2014. Status and Trends of Prey Fish Populations in Lake Michigan, 2013. Compiled Reports to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission of the Annual Bottom Trawl and Acoustic Surveys, 2013. Prepared by the U.S. Geological Survey, Great Lakes Science Center. http://www.glfc.org/lakecom/common\_docs/Compiled%20Reports%20from%20USGS%202014.pdf
- Majenjian, C.P., Bunnell, D.B., Warner, D.M., Pothoven, S.A., Fahnensteil, G.L., Nalepa, T.F., Vanderploeg, H.A., Tsehaye, I., Claramunt, R.M., Clark., R.D. Jr. 2015. Changes in the Lake Michigan food web following dreissenid mussel invasions: A synthesis. J. Great Lakes Res. 41: 217–231.
- Weidel, B.C., Walsh, M.G., Connerton, M.J., Holden, J.P. 2017a. Trawl-based assessment of Lake Ontario pelagic prey fishes including Alewife and Rainbow Smelt (2016 Annual Report, Bureau of Fisheries Lake Ontario Unit and St. Lawrence River Unit to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission's Lake Ontario Committee).
- Weidel, B.C., Walsh, M.G., Holden, J.P., Connerton, M.J. 2017b. Lake Ontario benthic prey fish assessment, 2016 (2016 Annual Report, Bureau of Fisheries Lake Ontario Unit and St. Lawrence River Unit to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission's Lake Ontario Committee).

### Status and Trends in the Lake Superior Fish Community, 2016<sup>1</sup>

Mark R. Vinson, Lori M. Evrard, Owen T. Gorman, Daniel L. Yule U.S. Geological Survey Great Lakes Science Center Lake Superior Biological Station 2800 Lakeshore Drive East, Ashland, Wisconsin 54806 (mvinson@usgs.gov)

### Abstract

In 2016, the Lake Superior fish community was sampled with daytime bottom trawls at 76 nearshore and 35 offshore stations. Spring and summer water temperatures in 2016 were warmer than average and considerably warmer than observed in 2014 and 2015. In the nearshore zone, a total of 17,449 individuals from 20 species or morphotypes were collected. Nearshore lakewide mean biomass was 2.2 kg/ha, which was near the lowest biomass on record for this survey since it began in 1978. In the offshore zone, a total 8,487 individuals from 16 species or morphotypes were collected lakewide. Offshore lakewide mean biomass was 4.5 kg/ha, which was the lowest biomass recorded since the offshore survey began in 2011. The density of age-1 Cisco was 5.0 fish/ha, which was 35% of that measured in 2015. Larval *Coregonus* were collected in surface trawls at 144 locations lakewide from May to July. The average nearshore lakewide larval *Coregonus* density estimate was 1,630 fish/ha, which was similar to that estimated in 2015.

### Introduction

The U.S. Geological Survey Lake Superior Biological Station conducts annual daytime bottom trawl surveys in nearshore (~15-80 m) and offshore (100-300 m) waters of Lake Superior. These surveys provide data for assessment of long-term trends in lakewide fish species occurrences, relative abundance, and biomass. Rather than absolute abundance and biomass estimates, these data have historically been considered population indices. Age and diet analyses are conducted for selected species. The nearshore survey has been conducted in spring since 1978 in U.S. waters, and since 1989 in Canadian waters. The offshore survey has been conducted in summer since 2011. We report population biomass estimates for a number of common species and recruitment indices of the density of age-1 fish for selected commercial and recreational species (Rainbow Smelt, Cisco, Bloater, Lake Whitefish, and Lake Trout, scientific names are provided in Table 1) from nearshore surveys, and population biomass estimates from offshore surveys. Results presented for age-1 and older fish are based solely on bottom trawl sampling. Fishing gear bias should be considered when interpreting the results of this survey, particularly for species with lower vulnerability to daytime bottom trawls, such as adult Cisco, and adult Lake Trout. In addition to benthic fish sampling at each station, we conducted surface trawls for larval fish, epilimnetic (30 m) and whole water column (100 m) zooplankton collections, and an electronic water profile that collected depth, temperature, specific conductance, pH, dissolved oxygen, chlorophyll a, photosynthetic active radiation (PAR), and beam transmission data. Herein we report on bottom and surface trawl collections and water temperatures.

<sup>1</sup>Presented at: Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Superior Committee Meeting, 21 March 2017The data associated with this report have not received final approval by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) and are currently under review. The Great Lakes Science Center is committed to complying with the Office of Management and Budget data release requirements and providing the public with high quality scientific data. We plan to make all USGS research vessel data collected between 1958 and 2016 publicly available from the GLSC website later in 2017. The anticipated citation will be <a href="http://doi.org/10.5066/F75M63X0">http://doi.org/10.5066/F75M63X0</a>. Please direct any immediate questions to our Information Technology Specialist, Scott Nelson, at <a href="https://gensol.gov">seelson@usgs.gov</a>.

# Methods

# Nearshore survey bottom trawling

Nearshore sites are located around the perimeter of the lake (Figure 1). In 2016, 76 of the 82 long-term sampling locations were sampled between 16 May and 16 June (Figure 1). Six locations were not sampled due to commercial fishing operations or mechanical problems. At each location, a single bottom trawl tow was conducted with a 12-m Yankee bottom trawl. The median start and end depths for bottom trawl tows were 16 m (range 10-34 m) and 54 m (range 20-143 m), respectively. The median distance trawled was 1.5 km (range 0.6-4.0 km). The median trawl wingspread was 8.3 m (range 7.4-9.6 m). Fish collections were sorted by species, counted, and weighed in aggregate to the nearest gram. Total length was measured on a maximum of 50 individuals per species per trawl. Length data for these individuals were then extrapolated to the entire catch, if necessary, Relative density (fish/ha) and biomass (kg/ha) were estimated by dividing sample counts and aggregate weights by the area of the bottom swept by each trawl tow (ha). Biomass estimates are reported for all species combined and individually for Burbot, Cisco, Bloater, Rainbow Smelt, Lake Whitefish, Sculpin species (Slimy Sculpin, Spoonhead Sculpin, and Deepwater Sculpin), and hatchery-, lean-, and siscowet Lake Trout. For Cisco, Bloater, Lake Whitefish, and Rainbow Smelt, age-1 year-class strength was estimated as the mean lakewide relative density for age-1 fish. Age-1 fish designations were based on species-specific lengths; Cisco <140 mm, Bloater <130 mm, Lake Whitefish <160 mm, and Rainbow Smelt <100 mm. Young Lake Trout densities are presented for small, < 226 mm (ca.  $\leq$  age-3) fish. Age-1 size cutoffs were based on past unpublished aging analyses and are approximate and are known to vary among years.

# Offshore survey bottom trawling

Offshore sites are located around the lake and were selected using a spatially-balanced, depth-weighted probabilistic sampling design that targets depths >90 m (Figure 1). Sample sites were selected in 2011 and the same sites have been sampled annually thereafter. In 2016, 35 locations were sampled during daylight hours between 27 June and 25 July. A single bottom trawl tow was conducted at each site using a 12-m Yankee bottom trawl towed on-contour during daylight hours. Station depths ranged from 92 to 315 m. The median trawl distance was 1.6 km (range 1.8-2.3 km). The median trawl wing spread was 9.8 m (range 8.3-11.4 m). Catches were processed similarly to that described for nearshore trawls. Biomass estimates are presented for all species and individually for Kiyi, Deepwater Sculpin, and siscowet Lake Trout. These three species made up >93% of the total biomass.

# Surface water trawling

A paired 1 m<sup>2</sup> 500 micron mesh neuston net was fished at the lake surface (0.5 m depth) for 10 minutes at 144 locations lakewide from 5 May to 25 July 2016. The purpose of this sampling was to describe the spatial distribution and abundance of larval *Coregonus*. Larval *Coregonus* were not identified to species, so it is assumed these fish are a mix of Cisco, Bloater, and Kiyi. In addition to *Coregonus* species, a few Sculpin and Pacific Salmon are also collected.



Figure 1. Location of 76 nearshore (green circles) and 35 offshore (pink circles) stations sampled May-July 2016. Samples collected at each location included bottom trawls for demersal fish, surface trawls for larval fish, epilimnetic (30 m) and whole water column (100 m) zooplankton collections, and an electronic water profile that collected data on depth, temperature, specific conductance, pH, dissolved oxygen, Chl a, PAR, and beam transmission. An additional 32 locations not shown on the map were sampled for larval fish, zooplankton, and water profile attributes.

# Results

# Nearshore survey

Nearshore water temperatures in 2016 were warmer than the long-term average and much warmer than observed in 2014 and 2015 (Figure 2a). Nearshore temperatures in June averaged 7.1 °C (range = 4.7-14.3 °C) at the surface and 4.0 °C (range = 3.8-5.0 °C) at 100 m. The long-term average (1991-2016) water temperatures for these same locations and dates is 5.9 °C at the surface and 3.5 °C at 100 m.

A total of 17,449 individual fish from 20 species or morphotypes were collected (Table 1). The number of species collected at each station ranged from 0 to 13, with a mean of 4.7 and median of 4. Lakewide mean biomass was 2.2 kg/ha, which was one of the lowest values on record and well below the long-term average of 9.1 kg/ha (Table 2, Figure 3). Lakewide median biomass was 0.2 kg/ha which was also one of the lowest values on record (Figure 3).



Figure 2. a) Average nearshore water temperature profiles collected in June. B) Average offshore water temperatures collected in July. Lines are shown for 2016, 2015, and 2014 – the coldest year on record. Nearshore June water temperatures have been collected since 1991 and offshore July temperatures since 2011.



Figure 3. Annual mean  $\pm$  SE (bars, left y-axis) and median (line, right y-axis) lakewide nearshore biomass estimates for all fish species collected in bottom trawls from 1978-2016.



Figure 4. Estimated biomass at individual nearshore sampling stations in 2016. Station locations are shown in Figure 1. The inset plot shows the annual skewness in the distribution of individual station biomass estimates. Higher skewness values indicate greater differences in fish biomass among sampling locations.

Individual station biomass was non-normally distributed and highly left-skewed (Figure 4). The skewness of the distribution of individual station biomass estimates in 2016 was 3.2, which was less than long-term mean of 3.7 (Figure 4). The highest individual station biomass was estimated for station 76 near Cornucopia, Wisconsin.

Cisco – Lakewide mean nearshore biomass of Cisco was 0.2 kg/ha in 2016. This was below the longterm average of 2.4 kg/ha and similar to that observed since 2007 (Table 2). Density of age-1 Cisco was 4.99 fish/ha in 2016, which indicated a small, but measureable recruitment year. This estimate was less than the 14.31 fish/ha observed in 2015. Over the course of the nearshore survey's history, densities of age-1 Cisco have exceeded 30 fish/ha eight times and 175 fish/ha five times and have been measured as high as 750 fish/ha (Table 3). Age-1 Cisco density of 5 fish/ha has a two-year recurrence interval and this density has been exceeded 18 times in the 39 year survey period.

Bloater – Lakewide mean nearshore biomass for Bloater was 0.4 kg/ha in 2016. This was below the long-term average of 1.7 kg/ha (Table 2). Age-1 Bloater density was 9.76 fish/ha in 2016, the highest density observed since 2006 (Table 3). The highest observed densities of age-1 Bloater is >30 fish/ha.

Lake Whitefish – Lakewide mean nearshore biomass for Lake Whitefish was 0.5 kg/ha in 2016. This was similar to that observed in 2015 and less than the long-term average of 2.1 kg/ha (Table 2). Age-1 Lake Whitefish density was 1.57 fish/ha in 2016, which was below the long-term average of 7.17 fish/ha (Table 3).

Rainbow Smelt – Lakewide mean nearshore biomass for Rainbow Smelt was 0.4 kg/ha in 2016. This was similar to that observed in 2015 and less than the long-term average of 1.2 kg/ha. Rainbow Smelt biomass has been less than the long-term mean since 2007 (Table 2). Age-1 Rainbow Smelt density was 82.71 fish/ha in 2016, which was about half of the long-term average of 157 fish/ ha (Table 3).

Sculpin – Lakewide mean nearshore biomass for Sculpin was 0.02 kg/ha in 2016. This was below the long-term average of 0.06 kg/ha. Sculpin biomass has not exceeded 0.06 kg/ha since 1998 (Table 2).

Other species – The combined mean nearshore lakewide biomass for all other species was 0.3 kg/ha in 2016. This was less than the long-term mean of 0.68 kg/ha. Species include Ninespine Stickleback, Trout-perch, Kiyi, Shortjaw Cisco, Pygmy Whitefish, Round Whitefish, and Longnose Sucker.

Burbot – Lakewide mean nearshore biomass for Burbot was 0.05 kg/ha. Burbot biomass has not exceeded the long-term average of 0.13 kg/ha since 2008 (Table 2).

Lake Trout – Four hatchery Lake Trout were collected during the nearshore survey. Hatchery Lake Trout biomass has been near zero since 2002, with the exception of 2005 (Figure 5). Lean Lake Trout biomass was 0.1 kg/ha. This was less than the long-term average of 0.3 kg/ha (Table 2). Siscowet Lake Trout nearshore biomass was 0.1 kg/ha, which was similar to the long-term average (Table 2). Densities of age-3 and younger lean and siscowet Lake Trout were 0.19 and 0.04 fish/ha in 2016, respectively. Young lean Lake Trout densities were less than the long-term average while young siscowet Lake Trout densities were similar to the long-term average while young siscowet Lake Trout densities were similar to the long-term average (Table 3).



*Figure 5. Mean annual lakewide biomass estimates for hatchery, lean, and siscowet Lake Trout estimated from bottom trawls in nearshore locations from 1978-2016.* 

# **Offshore** survey

Similar to the nearshore, offshore water temperatures were warmer than average (2011-2016) and much warmer than observed in 2014 and 2015. Offshore temperatures in July averaged 13.2 °C (range = 7.5-18.7 °C) at the surface and 3.9 °C (range = 3.8-4.4 °C) at 100 m (Figure 2).

A total of 10,375 individuals from 14 species were collected lakewide at 35 offshore sites (Table 1). The average and median observed species richness at each station was 3.9 and 4 species, respectively, and ranged from 1 to 8 species. Deepwater Sculpin, Kiyi, and siscowet Lake Trout made up 93% of the total biomass collected in offshore waters (Figure 6). Bloater and Pygmy Whitefish were the most common other species collected, but both species were generally limited to depths <110 m. Mean and median lakewide biomass was 4.5 kg/ha and 3.0 kg/ha, respectively (Figure 7). This was less than observed in previous years (Figure 7).



Figure 6. Mean lakewide biomass estimates for Kiyi, siscowet Lake Trout, Deepwater Sculpin, and other species estimated from offshore bottom trawls in 2016. Pie diameter is proportional to the biomass collected at that site, which ranged from 0-22 kg/ha. The pie in the legend is scaled to 3.1 kg/ha with the size of the pies on the map scaled accordingly to that reference.



Figure 7. Annual mean  $\pm$  SE (bars) and median (line) lakewide offshore biomass estimates for all species, siscowet Lake Trout, Kiyi and Deepwater Sculpin collected in bottom trawls from 2011-2016.

Siscowet Lake Trout – Lakewide mean offshore biomass of siscowet Lake Trout was 2.5 kg/ha. This was similar to that observed in 2015, but generally less than previous years (Figure 7).

Kiyi – Lakewide mean offshore biomass of Kiyi was 0.7 kg/ha. This was 50% of that observed in 2015. With the exception of 2013, there has been a steady decline in Kiyi biomass since 2011 (Figure 7).

Deepwater Sculpin – Lakewide mean offshore biomass of Deepwater Sculpin was 0.9 kg/ha. This was 54% of that estimated in 2015. Deepwater Sculpin biomass has declined steadily since 2012 (Figure 7).

# Larval Coregonus collections

A total of 22,097 *Coregonus* individuals were collected from May-July 2016. The lakewide nearshore average density between 16 May and 16 June was 1,630 fish/ha and ranged from 0-21,910 fish/ha. For comparison, the lakewide nearshore mean density during these same dates in 2014 and 2015 was 1,425 and 787 fish/ha, respectively (Figure 8a). Larval *Coregonus* were first collected on 4 May 2016 and were 9-10 mm in length. This suggests a hatch date around the first week of May, as this is the length at hatch observed for Cisco raised in the laboratory (Oyadomari and Auer 2008, CJFAS 65:1447-1358). Estimated hatch dates were mid-May in 2015 and the end of May in 2014. Growth of larval fish, as determined by the change in total length over time was greatest in 2016 and least in 2014 (Figure 8b). We suspect this was related to the earlier hatch date and warmer water in 2016 as compared to 2014 and 2015 (Figure 2).



Figure 8. a) Mean daily estimated larval Coregonus densities (fish/ha) collected in 2014, 2015, and 2016 from surface trawling. The number of locations sampled each day ranged from 1-5. b) Mean larval length for each trawl collected in 2014, 2015, and 2016. A maximum of 50 individuals were measured from each trawl. The slope of the lines were 0.1 mm per day in 2016 and 0.05 mm per day in 2014 and 2015.

# Summary

Over the 39-year history of the Lake Superior nearshore survey, total reported biomass has been largely dependent on recruitment of age-1+ Bloater, Cisco, and Lake Whitefish populations as well as survival of Rainbow Smelt to age-3 or older. The lack of significant recruitment of these species in recent years, particularly of Cisco, is of concern to fishery managers. In 2015 and 2016 we observed small but measureable recruitment of age-1 Cisco, Bloater, and Kiyi. Larval *Coregonus* density estimates in 2016 were similar to that observed in 2015 and roughly twice that observed in 2014. Larval *Coregonus* summer growth in 2016 was twice that observed in 2014 and 2015. Time will tell if this will translate to a larger age-1 year class in 2017. Offshore demersal fish biomass, principally Deepwater Sculpin, Kiyi, and siscowet Lake Trout, was lower than that observed in previous years. The cause of this 5-year decline is not well understood, but may be driven by consumption of these species by large siscowet Lake Trout. The combination of our near- and offshore bottom and surface trawl surveys provide a lakewide picture of the status and trends of the Lake Superior fish community susceptible to bottom trawls as well as insights into *Coregonus* recruitment dynamics. We plan to continue these surveys into the future.

Note: All GLSC sampling and handling of fish during research are carried out in accordance with guidelines for the care and use of fishes by the American Fisheries Society (http://fisheries.org/docs/wp/Guidelines-for-Use-of-Fishes.pdf).

Fish	Species name	Nearshore	Offshore
Rainbow Smelt	Osmerus mordax	11002	6
Bloater	Coregonus hovi	1957	80
Cisco	Coregonus artedii	1001	3
Pygmy Whitefish	Prosopium coulteri	935	59
Ninespine Stickleback	Pungitius pungitius	821	10
Trout-perch	Percopsis omiscomaycus	496	0
Slimy Sculpin	Cottus cognatus	448	14
Lake Whitefish	Coregonus clupeaformis	347	1
Spoonhead Sculpin	Cottus ricei	117	8
Deepwater Sculpin	Myoxocephalus thompsoni	86	7044
Lean lake Trout	Salvelinus namaycush	47	1
Shortjaw Cisco	Coregonus zenithicus	45	5
Kiyi	Coregonus kiyi	43	1011
Siscowet Lake Trout	Salvelinus namaycush siscowet	37	235
Longnose Sucker	Catostomus catostomus	31	0
Blackfin Cisco	Coregonus nigripinnis	9	0
Common Shiner	Notropis cornutus	8	0
Burbot	Lota lota	7	4
Hatchery Lake Trout	Salvelinus namaycush	4	0
Alewife	Alosa pseudoharengus	3	0
Unidentified coregonid	Coregonus	5	5

Table 1. Fish species and the number of individuals collected in nearshore and offshore bottom trawl surveys in Lake Superior in 2016. Sampling locations shown in Figure 1.

Table 2. Lake Superior nearshore bottom trawl lakewide mean biomass (kg/ha) estimates of common fishes, from 1978-2016. Sculpin includes Slimy, Spoonhead, and Deepwater sculpin. Mean and median total biomass includes all species. Other species includes Ninespine Stickleback, Trout-Perch, Kiyi, Shortjaw Cisco, Pygmy Whitefish, Round Whitefish, and Longnose Sucker.

			Mean	Median					Hatchery	Lean	Siscowet			
Year	Sites	Number of species	total biomass	total biomass	Rainbow Smelt	Cisco	Lake Whitefish	Bloater	Lake Trout	Lake Trout	Lake Trout	Burbot	Sculpin	Other species
1978	43	17	5.88	0.78	4.07	0.01	0.70	0.13	0.37	0.00	0.00	0.17	0.14	0.29
1979	49	17	6.33	2.25	2.17	0.06	1.27	0.45	0.66	0.06	0.00	0.30	0.20	1.15
1980	48	16	3.28	1.11	0.87	0.28	0.58	0.28	0.48	0.05	0.00	0.19	0.19	0.35
1981	48	19	2.62	0.42	0.21	0.36	0.67	0.41	0.30	0.02	0.00	0.24	0.18	0.22
1982	32	18	3.06	0.29	0.25	0.35	0.85	0.43	0.70	0.10	0.00	0.06	0.03	0.29
1983	50	19	2.48	0.54	0.92	0.17	0.20	0.43	0.45	0.03	0.00	0.07	0.06	0.15
1984	53	21	5.84	1.67	0.80	0.65	1.30	1.75	0.48	0.34	0.02	0.20	0.06	0.25
1985	53	19	14.77	3.50	1.33	6.53	2.14	2.69	0.40	0.78	0.00	0.05	0.08	0.77
1986	53	19	19.28	3.97	2.84	8.65	2.65	3.79	0.27	0.55	0.09	0.18	0.07	0.19
1987	53	16	13.26	1.40	1.78	5.69	2.00	2.57	0.25	0.34	0.00	0.14	0.07	0.44
1988	53	19	13.89	0.90	1.18	3.10	2.40	5.97	0.16	0.78	0.00	0.08	0.04	0.17
1989	76	21	17.60	3.41	2.08	6.21	5.54	1.71	0.16	0.46	0.23	0.21	0.08	0.93
1990	81	22	21.28	5.44	1.95	10.12	2.36	4.85	0.12	0.34	0.19	0.11	0.08	1.17
1991	84	22	16.83	3.57	1.17	10.23	2.74	0.81	0.08	0.69	0.02	0.21	0.10	0.78
1992	85	24	18.65	3.33	1.02	3.40	3.70	8.39	0.20	0.59	0.05	0.17	0.07	1.06
1993	87	23	18.12	5.86	2.12	4.99	3.67	4.28	0.27	0.59	0.14	0.27	0.08	1.71
1994	87	23	17.39	3.59	1.89	7.24	5.42	0.42	0.23	0.59	0.09	0.11	0.08	1.32
1995	87	27	15.95	3.02	2.21	3.96	5.84	0.57	0.23	0.88	0.10	0.14	0.09	1.92
1996	87	26	9.13	2.48	1.28	1.04	1.63	3.09	0.22	0.50	0.37	0.19	0.11	0.69
1997	85	30	8.41	2.20	1.35	1.35	2.77	0.86	0.15	0.67	0.30	0.10	0.06	0.80
1998	87	22	11.29	1.95	1.47	1.09	2.26	4.37	0.08	0.56	0.19	0.07	0.07	1.12
1999	83	23	9.76	1.54	1.11	2.73	1.28	3.13	0.05	0.35	0.17	0.07	0.04	0.83
2000	85	25	6.92	1.10	0.83	2.42	1.60	0.93	0.04	0.27	0.17	0.02	0.04	0.59
2001	83	32	8.23	1.63	1.51	1.15	2.78	1.18	0.05	0.65	0.09	0.13	0.04	0.63
2002	84	26	4.68	0.53	0.18	1.48	1.69	0.57	0.02	0.15	0.04	0.10	0.02	0.44
2003	86	26	4.73	0.98	0.30	0.64	1.84	0.88	0.01	0.33	0.24	0.01	0.02	0.45
2004	75	25	6.31	1.87	0.32	1.80	1.88	1.15	0.01	0.12	0.15	0.20	0.03	0.65
2005	52	27	10.97	4.39	1.00	2.23	4.37	1.64	0.23	0.63	0.04	0.31	0.01	0.52
2006	55	24	8.29	1.57	0.95	2.25	1.70	1.79	0.03	0.33	0.14	0.08	0.02	0.99
2007	56	31	6.09	0.97	1.77	0.27	1.86	0.90	0.01	0.19	0.11	0.12	0.02	0.84
2008	59	23	5.40	1.57	0.94	0.38	2.37	0.17	0.06	0.18	0.14	0.29	0.02	0.86
2009	64	20	3.14	0.14	0.38	0.30	0.15	1.18	0.00	0.25	0.11	0.04	0.02	0.72
2010	76	24	1.46	0.13	0.22	0.31	0.27	0.23	0.01	0.04	0.08	0.03	0.05	0.23
2011	82	21	3.56	1.28	0.62	0.41	0.94	0.56	0.01	0.11	0.14	0.02	0.05	0.70
2012	72	25	1.14	0.31	0.16	0.02	0.15	0.35	0.01	0.07	0.08	0.02	0.03	0.26
2013	79	27	6.00	1.17	0.53	0.52	2.98	0.49	0.01	0.26	0.31	0.10	0.02	0.77
2014	73	27	7.04	1.66	0.43	0.35	4.31	0.50	0.00	0.37	0.27	0.08	0.02	0.72
2015	76	21	1.77	0.19	0.22	0.23	0.54	0.40	0.00	0.08	0.08	0.00	0.02	0.19
2016	76	20	2.15	0.23	0.44	0.22	0.53	0.38	0.01	0.09	0.10	0.05	0.02	0.33
Mean	69	22.7	8.79	1.87	1.15	2.39	2.10	1.66	0.17	0.34	0.11	0.13	0.06	0.68
Median	76	23.0	6.92	1.57	1.00	1.09	1.86	0.88	0.12	0.33	0.09	0.11	0.05	0.69

Table 3. Lake Superior nearshore bottom trawl lakewide mean age-1 density (number/ha) estimates of Cisco, Bloater, Lake Whitefish, and Rainbow Smelt and for small lean and siscowet Lake Trout. Age-1 fish were defined by species-specific lengths: Cisco <140 mm, Bloater <130 mm, Lake Whitefish <160 mm, and Rainbow Smelt <100 mm. Lean and siscowet Lake Trout data are for fish <226 mm, ca. < age 3.

								Lean	Siscowet
	Year		Rainbow			Lake		Lake	Lake
Year	Class	Sites	Smelt	Cisco	Bloater	Whitefish	Kiyi	Trout	Trout
1978	1977	43	95.76	0.02	0.82	2.62	0.00	0.11	0.00
1979	1978	49	234.14	6.31	30.08	3.90	0.00	0.17	0.00
1980	1979	48	96.79	0.10	1.57	1.97	0.00	0.12	0.00
1981	1980	48	106.26	13.42	6.85	16.43	0.00	0.28	0.03
1982	1981	32	63.81	0.19	0.75	4.16	0.00	0.22	0.00
1983	1982	50	103.58	0.06	0.82	0.45	0.00	0.20	0.00
1984	1983	53	224.39	21.72	4.74	8.04	0.00	0.59	0.00
1985	1984	53	149.51	748.04	44.00	2.47	0.00	0.65	0.00
1986	1985	53	150.41	68.94	30.55	3.45	0.00	0.43	0.06
1987	1986	53	275.59	5.43	4.23	11.91	0.00	0.36	0.02
1988	1987	53	155.27	0.53	6.86	6.11	0.01	0.26	0.00
1989	1988	76	274.78	226.75	37.69	36.08	0.00	0.13	0.07
1990	1989	81	272.04	425.63	57.26	8.78	0.01	0.22	0.02
1991	1990	84	162.03	236.85	11.38	17.54	0.00	0.33	0.01
1992	1991	85	176.94	9.05	10.71	11.84	0.06	0.40	0.02
1993	1992	87	155.24	3.32	0.22	7.68	0.02	0.42	0.10
1994	1993	87	198.62	0.79	0.06	4.95	0.02	0.57	0.01
1995	1994	87	401.83	1.48	0.00	13.52	0.02	0.86	0.02
1996	1995	87	168.25	0.97	0.05	6.33	0.01	1.13	0.10
1997	1996	85	253.04	11.08	0.18	8.80	0.00	0.39	0.04
1998	1997	87	145.01	1.20	0.12	7.74	0.02	0.60	0.02
1999	1998	83	216.18	90.76	0.40	9.17	0.05	0.16	0.05
2000	1999	85	58.40	3.86	0.48	0.77	0.26	0.18	0.01
2001	2000	83	256.32	0.82	0.12	2.37	0.00	0.26	0.02
2002	2001	84	56.79	0.54	0.12	13.68	0.00	0.12	0.03
2003	2002	86	77.83	33.20	0.58	7.74	0.01	0.09	0.01
2004	2003	75	70.28	175 37	27 22	6 36	0.11	0.12	0.01
2005	2004	52	110.39	8.23	12.07	2.97	0.12	0.30	0.03
2006	2005	55	249 56	18 64	13 61	5.51	0.13	0.24	0.10
2007	2006	56	360.93	0.43	0.32	19.74	0.01	0.05	0.03
2008	2007	59	280.69	0.19	0.28	0.63	0.00	0.00	0.02
2009	2008	64	71.64	0.27	0.59	3.00	0.00	0.04	0.03
2010	2009	76	45.22	14 01	2.46	6 64	0.00	0.02	0.02
2011	2010	82	73.98	0.29	0.76	3.98	0.01	0.22	0.01
2012	2011	72	11.05	0.03	0.06	1 90	0.00	0.20	0.03
2012	2012	79	142.90	0.17	0.22	5 46	0.00	0.18	0.03
2014	2013	73	68 46	0.01	0.06	2.27	0.00	0.00	0.03
2015	2014	76	30.66	14 31	8.57	1.00	0.00	0.07	0.03
2016	2015	76	82.71	4 99	9.76	1.00	0.12	0.07	0.05
Mean	2010	69	157.11	55.08	8 37	7 17	0.03	0.19	0.03
Median		76	149 51	3 86	0.87	5 51	0.00	0.23	0.03
		,0	1 17.01	5.00	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.22	0.02

# Status and Trends of Pelagic Prey Fish in Lake Huron, 2016<sup>†1</sup>

Timothy P. O'Brien<sup>1</sup>, Peter C. Esselman<sup>1</sup>, Steve Lenart<sup>2</sup>, Steve Farha<sup>1</sup>, Patricia Armenio<sup>1</sup>, Chris Olds<sup>2</sup>, and Lynn Ogilvie<sup>1</sup>

> <sup>1</sup>U.S. Geological Survey, Great Lakes Science Center 1451 Green Rd. Ann Arbor, MI 48105

<sup>2</sup>U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Fish and Wildlife Conservation Office 480 W. Fletcher St., Alpena, MI 49707

#### Abstract

The U.S. Geological Survey Great Lakes Science Center has conducted integrated acoustic and mid-water trawl surveys of Lake Huron during 1997 and annually from 2004-2016. The 2016 survey was conducted during September and early October and included transects in Lake Huron's main basin, Georgian Bay, and North Channel. Mean lake-wide pelagic fish density was 824 fish/ha and mean pelagic fish biomass was 9.0 kg/ha in 2016, which represents 58% and 77% of the long-term mean respectively. Mean lake-wide biomass was 15% lower in 2016 as compared to 2015. The total estimated lake-wide standing stock biomass of pelagic fish species was ~42 kt ( $\pm$  9.8 kt), consisting almost entirely of bloater (28.7 kt; 68%) and rainbow smelt (13 kt; 31%). No alewives were captured during the 2016 survey. Age-0 rainbow smelt abundance decreased from 475 fish/ha in 2015 to 173 fish/ha in 2016. Biomass of age-1+ rainbow smelt increased from 2.2 kg/ha in 2015 to 2.6 kg/ha in 2016. Age-0 bloater abundance decreased from 315 fish/ha in 2015 to 103 fish/ha in 2016. Biomass of age-1+ bloater decreased from 7.1 kg/ha in 2015 to 5.6 kg/ha in 2016. Emerald shiner density increased from 37 fish/ha in 2015 to 45 fish/ha in 2016 and biomass remained unchanged between the two years. Bloater and rainbow smelt will continue to be the primary pelagic species available to offshore predators in coming years, with reduced numbers of rainbow smelt if recruitment to older ages remains poor.

<sup>†</sup>Presented at:

Great Lakes Fishery Commission Lake Huron Committee Meeting Ypsilanti, MI, March 21, 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The data associated with this report have not received final approval by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) and are currently under review. The Great Lakes Science Center is committed to complying with the Office of Management and Budget data release requirements and providing the public with high quality scientific data. We plan to make all USGS research vessel data collected between 1958 and 2016 publicly available from the GLSC website later in 2017. The anticipated citation will be <a href="http://doi.org/10.5066/F75M63X0">http://doi.org/10.5066/F75M63X0</a>. Please direct any immediate questions to our Information Technology Specialist, Scott Nelson, at <a href="mailto:snelson@usgs.gov">snelson@usgs.gov</a>.

### Introduction

The U.S. Geological Survey Great Lakes Science Center (GLSC) has conducted bottom trawl surveys of the Lake Huron fish community since the 1970s. These surveys have tracked broad-scale changes in the benthic fish community and provided valuable information on prey fish dynamics to fishery managers tasked with balancing predatory demand by native and introduced salmonines. Integrated acoustic and mid-water trawl surveys were implemented because it was recognized that a substantial proportion of the prey fish biomass was distributed in pelagic zones, which could not be measured using bottom trawl gear (Fabrizio et al. 1997, Stockwell et al. 2007, Yule et al. 2008). Acoustic surveys were first conducted during the 1970s, but the first lake-wide acoustic survey that included all of Lake Huron's distinct basins was conducted in 1997. Annual surveys have been conducted since 2004; however, only the main basin was sampled during 2006. The purpose of this report is to present 2016 abundance and biomass estimates for major pelagic offshore prey fish species in Lake Huron and compare these estimates to previous years.

# Survey and analytical methods

The pelagic prey fish survey in Lake Huron is based on a stratified-random design with acoustic transects in five geographic strata: eastern main basin (ME), western main basin (MW), southern main basin (SB), Georgian Bay (GB), and the North Channel (NC) (Figure 1). Within each stratum, the first transect is selected randomly each year based on latitude and longitude; subsequent transects are spaced relatively uniformly around the first. Effort (transects per stratum) is reallocated each year based on stratum area and variability of total biomass in each stratum from previous surveys (sampling design described in Adams et al. 2006). For analyses, each transect was divided into 10 m bottom contour intervals and 5-10 m depth layers (1997), 1,000 m distance intervals and 10 m depth layers (2004-2011), or 3,000 m distance units and 10 m depth layers (2012-2016). These comprise the elementary sampling units (ESUs) within which fish density is summarized along transects.

The 2016 pelagic fisheries survey was completed from 7 September to 3 October. Sampling was conducted by both the GLSC (R/V *Sturgeon*) and US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS; M/V *Spencer F. Baird*). Twenty-six acoustic transects were sampled, resulting in approximately 480 km of acoustic data. Forty-five mid-water trawl tows were conducted in conjunction with acoustic data collection.

Fish were collected using a 16.5-m headrope mid-water trawl with 76, 38, 25, and 6.35 mm stretch meshes (USGS) and a 19.8-m headrope mid-water trawl with 200, 150, 100, 75, 50, and 38 mm stretch mesh with a cod-end liner having 3.175 mm stretch mesh (USFWS). Mid-water trawl locations and depths were chosen to target fish aggregations, but multiple tows per transect were conducted when fish were present so that trawl data within a stratum were available from each scattering layer formed by fish. At a minimum, a single mid-water trawl was conducted on each transect except in rare instances when very few fish targets were detected. Trawl fishing depth was monitored using Netmind<sup>TM</sup> (2004-2015) and Marport M3 (2016) systems (USGS) and a Simrad PI44 catch monitoring system (USFWS). In 2016, trawling depths ranged from 5 to 71 m (mean = 29 m, mode = 20 m). Most mid-water trawl tows were of 20 minutes duration, with tow times extended up to 25 or 30 minutes when few fish were present. All fishes captured in the mid-water trawl tows were identified, counted, and weighed in aggregate (g) by species.

Total length in millimeters was measured on a random subsample (100-200 fish) per species per tow. Individual fishes were assigned to age categories (age-0 or age 1+) based on the following length cutoffs: alewife *Alosa pseudoharengus* =100 mm; rainbow smelt *Osmerus mordax* = 90 mm; bloater *Coregonus hoyi* = 120 mm. These lengths approximate the lengths of the smallest age-1 fish of these species (GLSC unpublished data).



Figure 1. Location of acoustic transects and mid-water trawls within sampling strata in Lake Huron during 2016 (left), and location of acoustic transects during surveys in 2004-2015 (right).

Density (fish/ha) of individual species was estimated for each transect as the product of acoustic fish density and the proportion of each species (by number) in the mid-water trawl catches at that location. Total density per species was subdivided into age-0 and age-1+ age-classes by multiplying total density by the numeric proportions of each age group. Biomass (kg/ha) of each species was estimated for each transect as the product of density and size-specific mean mass estimated from fish lengths in trawls, and length-weight relationships. The arithmetic mean and standard error are presented for total and species-specific density and biomass estimates for the survey area.

Mean, standard error, and confidence limits for density and biomass for the entire survey area (all three basins pooled) were estimated using stratified cluster analysis methods in SAS (SAS Institute Inc. 2007). Cluster sampling techniques are appropriate for acoustic data, which represent a continuous stream of autocorrelated data (Williamson 1982, Connors and Schwager 2002). Density and biomass values for each ESU in each stratum were weighted by dividing the stratum area by the number of ESUs in the stratum.

Acoustic equipment specifications, software versions, single target detection parameters, noise levels, and detection limits can be found in appendices 1 and 2. Supplemental methods on acoustic analysis methods and acoustic equipment can be found in appendix 3.

### **Results and Discussion**

### Density and biomass by species

<u>Alewife</u> – During 2016, no alewives were captured. Alewife densities estimated in 1997, 2005-2006, 2008, and 2013 were considerably higher than other years in the time series. However, we note that density differences, though substantial, did not mean that alewives were especially abundant in any survey year (Figure 2). During 1997, the year of highest abundance, alewives were only 3.1% of total fish density.



Figure 2. Acoustic and mid-water trawl estimates of alewife numeric density (fish/ha; left panel) and biomass (kg/ha; right panel) in Lake Huron, 1997-2016. Error bars represent ±1 standard error.

Acoustic estimates of alewife biomass have remained low for the last decade despite large fluctuations in density during 2004-2013 (Figure 2). Temporal biomass differences were largely due to differences in size and age structure between 1997 and other years. High biomass in 1997 was due to age 1+ alewife and low biomass during 2004-2014 was the result of trawl catches dominated by age-0 fish (Figure 2). Since 2004, alewives have never comprised more than 2% of pelagic fish biomass. Although mid-water trawl catches of age-0 alewives occurred during some acoustic surveys, recruitment has been limited and alewives have shown no sign of returning to higher abundance. These findings differ from that observed in the 2016 bottom trawl survey (Riley et al. 2017), which found high numbers of young-of-year alewife in several trawl catches near the ports of Alpena and Hammond Bay. However, abundance and biomass of both young-of-year and yearling-and-older alewife remain low relative to previous decades (Riley et al. 2017). Overall trends between acoustic and bottom trawl surveys have typically been similar with respect to alewife abundance since populations crashed in 2004.

<u>Rainbow smelt</u> – During 2016, age-0 rainbow smelt density decreased from 2015 estimates by nearly a factor of 3 to 24% of the long-term mean (Figure 3). Age-0 rainbow smelt populations are considerably less than the high observed in 1997, but there has been no clear trend in abundance since 2004. Age 1+ rainbow smelt biomass increased from 2.2 kg/ha in 2015 to 2.6 kg/ha in 2016. This is roughly 60% of the long-term mean of 4.3 kg/ha (Figure 3) and

substantially less than that observed in 1997. Rainbow smelt were most abundant in the North Channel and Georgian Bay respectively (Figure 4).



Figure 3. Acoustic and mid-water trawl estimates of rainbow smelt age-0 numeric density (fish/ha; left panel) and age-1+ biomass (kg/ha; right panel) in Lake Huron, 1997-2016. Error bars represent ±1 standard error.



Figure 4. Geographic distribution of rainbow smelt (left) and bloater (right) biomass summarized within elementary sampling units (dots). Gray lines are 20 m depth intervals.

<u>Bloater</u> – Estimates of age-0 bloater numeric density in 2016 were 33% of estimated densities for 2015 (Figure 5). Estimated biomass of age-1+ bloater decreased from 7.1 kg/ha in 2015 to 5.6 kg/ha in 2016 (Figure 5). However, the standard error around this estimate was large, indicating low precision. Similar to results from bottom trawl surveys, age-0 bloater density was variable, but increased during 2004-2015 (average density > 160 fish/ha). Biomass of age-1+ bloater

showed an increasing trend from 2004-2008, followed by a decrease from 2009-2010. Abundance of age-1+ bloater remained relatively unchanged during 2011-2013. Although we have seen bloater biomass increase during the past three years, relative standard error for these estimates ranged from 36-48% indicating low equitability in distribution of biomass throughout Lake Huron. Much of the biomass is driven by bloater aggregations in the southern and northwestern main basin (Figure 4).



Figure 5. Acoustic and mid-water trawl estimates of bloater age-0 numeric density (fish/ha; left panel) and age-1+ biomass (kg/ha; right panel) in Lake Huron, 1997-2016. Error bars represent ±1 standard error.

<u>Emerald shiner</u> – In 2016, emerald shiner biomass remained unchanged relative to 2015 and was 24% of the long-term mean of 0.10 kg/ha (Figure 6). In 2015, mean biomass of emerald shiner was estimated to be 0.22% of total pelagic fish biomass, compared to 0.27% in 2016. Emerald shiner biomass averaged 1.6% of total fish biomass during 2004-2014, but with the exception of 2006, rarely exceeded 1% of total fish biomass in a given year.



Figure 6. Acoustic and mid-water trawl estimates of emerald shiner numeric density (fish/ha; left panel) and biomass (kg/ha; right panel) in Lake Huron, 2004-2016. Error bars represent ±1 standard error.

Other pelagic species - Other species captured during acoustic and mid-water trawl surveys included threespine stickleback Gasterosteus aculeatus, ninespine stickleback Pungitius pungitius, chinook salmon Oncorhynchus tshawytscha, lake whitefish Coregonus clupeaformis, lake trout Salvelinus namaycush, and cisco Coregonus artedi. These species typically compose a small proportion of the mid-water trawl catch. In the case of cisco, catches have occurred in most years during acoustic surveys, but their density remains low in open waters of the lake during September and October. During October in northern Lake Huron, cisco are primarily distributed in shallow, near shore areas (M.P. Ebener, Chippewa Ottawa Resource Authority, personal communication). Our acoustic and mid-water trawl surveys primarily operate in deeper waters (>15 m) during the fall, and therefore may not effectively sample cisco that are moving into shallower areas prior to spawning. Cisco are occasionally caught in mid-water trawls but catches are too sporadic to use trawl proportions to apportion acoustic densities. During 2016, sixteen cisco (> 300 mm TL) were captured. Three of these were captured in the North Channel, seven in Georgian Bay and six in the main basin near the Straights of Mackinaw. These specimens were captured at a mean fishing depth of 19.5 m and mean water temperature of 17°C. This pattern in depth distribution is typical for cisco captured in the September acoustic surveys, with fish foraging in offshore areas at or near the thermocline.

#### Among-basin comparisons of fish biomass

In 2016, pelagic fish biomass decreased in the main basin and increased in both the North Channel and Georgian Bay. Biomass in the North Channel (13.3 kg/ha) was roughly 70% of the long-term mean and increases were driven by higher biomass of both age-1+ rainbow smelt and bloater (Figure 7). Mean main basin biomass (10.45 kg/ha) showed a 19% decrease from 2015 primarily due to decreases in age-1+ bloater. Biomass in Georgian Bay (8.5 kg/ha) showed a two-fold increase to 76% of the long-term mean due to increases in age-0 and age-1+ rainbow smelt, and to a lesser extent, age-0 and age-1+ bloater (Figure 7). In addition to differences in fish biomass, the three basins have had different temporal trends in biomass and community composition. In both Georgian Bay and the main basin, fish biomass remains lower than in 1997,

but there is no clear evidence of a declining trend in the North Channel (Figure 7). Community composition differences are predominantly the result of variation in the proportion of biomass comprised by rainbow smelt and bloater, the two most dominant species.



Figure 7. Biomass (kg/ha) of major pelagic fish species in Georgian Bay, main basin, and North Channel during 1997-2016. Horizontal lines denote 1997-2015 mean density.

Most biomass in Georgian Bay is rainbow smelt (60% average), while biomass in the main basin has consisted of varying proportions of rainbow smelt and bloater. Since 2012, bloater has been the dominant contributor in the main basin, averaging 73% of pelagic fish biomass (Figure 8). In the North Channel rainbow smelt have comprised 73% of biomass on average.

# Lake-wide fish density and biomass

Lake-wide mean pelagic fish density decreased from 1,313 fish/ha in 2015 to 824 fish/ha in 2016, representing roughly 60% of the long-term mean (Figure 8). The 2016 pelagic fish density estimate represented 16% of that observed in 1997. The 2016 lake-wide mean pelagic fish biomass estimate was 9.0 kg/ha, a 15% decrease from 2015. Total standing stock biomass in 2016 was estimated at 42 kt (SE 9.8 kt) (Figure 8). The decline in total standing stock biomass was driven primarily by lower biomass of age-1+ bloater in the main basin. In general, acoustic estimates of pelagic fish biomass in Lake Huron have shown no consistent trend between 2004 and 2016. However, biomass has been considerably lower than in 1997 when rainbow smelt and bloater were more abundant in Georgian Bay and the main basin, and alewife was more abundant throughout the lake.



Figure 8. Acoustic and mid-water trawl estimates of lake-wide numeric density (fish/ha; left panel) and standing stock biomass (kilotonnes; right panel) in Lake Huron, 1997-2016. Error bars represent ±1 standard error.

Estimates derived from the lake-wide acoustic survey, as with any other type of fishery survey, include assumptions about the sampling and data analysis techniques. For example, we assumed that the areas sampled were representative of the respective basins. This survey sampled areas of Lake Huron from 10 to 250 m in depth. These depths encompass 85% of the range of depths in Lake Huron, although sampling is limited in shallower (<20 m) areas of the lake. For example, nearshore zones and large shallow embayments, especially Thunder Bay, Saginaw Bay, and Parry Sound, are not sampled. These areas could be responsible for high rates of pelagic fish production (Fielder and Thomas 2014, Höök et al. 2001, Klumb et al. 2003), but could not be sampled safely due to the draft of our research vessel (3 m). Given the small surface areas of these shallow-water embayments relative to the total surface area, densities would need to be considerable to influence the lake-wide mean. We conducted sufficient mid-water trawls to achieve an acceptable degree of confidence in fish community composition, according to guidelines in Warner et al. (2012). An additional assumption was that fish size was a reasonable proxy for age-0 or age-1+ groupings. We used size to assign age and assumed no overlap in age among size classes. This assumption was likely violated, especially for rainbow smelt. While this might have slight effects on our estimates of age-0 versus age-1+ density and biomass, it would have no impact on our estimates of total density or biomass for a species.

### Conclusions

Relatively high adult bloater biomass during 2016 indicates that this species will continue to be the most available pelagic prey species in the offshore zone of Lake Huron. Although lake-wide preyfish biomass decreased in 2016 due to reduced biomass of bloater, preyfish stocks in Georgian Bay increased relative to 2015, and have maintained relatively high productivity in the North Channel through time. Biomass of rainbow smelt in the main basin will likely remain low during 2017 given recent trends in low recruitment for this species (O'Brien et al. 2014) and
relatively low adult biomass in 2016. During 2017, pelagic prey available to piscivores will likely be similar to that seen in recent years.

Lake-wide pelagic biomass in Lake Huron during 2016 (9.7 kg/h) was higher than that estimated for Lake Michigan during 2016 (5.5 kg/ha, Warner et al. 2017) and Lake Superior during 2011 (6.8 kg/ha, Yule et al. 2013). In addition to differences in lake-wide biomass in recent years, pelagic fish community composition differs between the three lakes. In Lake Michigan, alewife is still prevalent and comprises about 72% of the pelagic biomass, while in lakes Huron and Superior, the biomass of this species is negligible. Additionally, native coregonines and other species are at historic low levels in Lake Michigan. Native species constitute much higher proportions of total biomass in lakes Huron and Superior. In the case of Lake Superior, kiyi (Coregonus kiyi) are numerically dominant at depths > 100 m and cisco is dominant by biomass (Yule et al. 2013). In Lake Huron, rainbow smelt are numerically more abundant, while rainbow smelt and bloater have been alternating roles as the dominant contributor to total biomass, with bloater contributing more in recent years. Additionally, there have been relatively consistent (but low) catches of emerald shiner and cisco in Lake Huron mid-water trawling. In the case of emerald shiner, it is likely that their reappearance was the result of a release from predation on fry following the collapse of alewife (Madenjian et al. 2008; Schaeffer et al. 2008).

To provide accurate estimates of available prey fish resources in Lake Huron, the continuation of acoustic surveys will be instrumental in assessing the pelagic component of the prey fish community, while complementing bottom trawl surveys that better estimate benthic prev resources. The information gathered from acoustic surveys that sample areas where bottom trawling is not feasible will increase our understanding of variation in prey fish biomass across large temporal and spatial scales (i.e., all of Lake Huron's basins). As no single gear is best for assessing all species, life stages, or habitats, estimates of fish biomass from multiple gear types will lead to a better understanding of ecosystem dynamics.

# Acknowledgments

We thank the vessel crews and biologists of the R/V Sturgeon, R/V Grayling, and M/V Spencer Baird for their assistance with the night field surveys. We thank Capt. Joe Bergan, Lyle Grivicich, and Dave Paavola for their support of 2016 field operations. Scott Nelson, Dan Benes, and Limei Zhang provided computer and database support. Mark Vinson and Chris Davis provided helpful reviews of this report. Any use of trade, product, or firm names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government. All GLSC sampling and handling of fish during research are carried out in accordance with guidelines for the care and use of fishes by the American Fisheries Society (http://fisheries.org/docs/wp/Guidelines-for-Use-of-Fishes.pdf).

# Literature cited

- Adams J.V., R. L. Argyle, G. W. Fleischer, G. L. Curtis, and R. G. Stickel. 2006. Improving the design and efficiency of acoustic and midwater trawl surveys through stratification, with an application to Lake Michigan prey fishes. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 26: 612-621.
- Argyle, R.L., G.W. Fleischer, G.L. Curtis, J.V. Adams, and R.G. Stickel. 1998. An integrated acoustic and trawl based prey fish assessment strategy for Lake Michigan. A report to the Illinois Department of Natural Resources, Indiana Department of Natural Resources, Michigan Department of Natural Resources, and

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. U.S. Geological Survey, Biological Resource Division, Great Lakes Science Center, 1451 Green Road, Ann Arbor, MI USA.

- Connors, M.E., and S.J. Schwager. 2002. The use of adaptive cluster sampling for hydroacoustic surveys. ICES Journal of Marine Science 59:1314-1325.
- Fabrizio, M. C., J. V. Adams, and G. L. Curtis. 1997. Assessing prey fish populations in Lake Michigan: comparison of simultaneous acoustic-midwater trawling with bottom trawling. Fisheries Research 33: 37-54.
- Fielder, D. G., and M. V. Thomas, 2014. Status and Trends of the Fish Community of Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron 2005–2011. Michigan Department of Natural Resources, Fisheries Report 03. Lansing.
- Fleischer, G. W., R. L. Argyle, and G. L. Curtis. 1997. *In situ* relations of target strength to fish size for Great Lakes pelagic planktivores. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 126: 784-796.
- Höök, T.O., N.M. Eagan, and P.W. Webb. 2001. Habitat and human influences on larval fish assemblages in northern Lake Huron coastal marsh bays. Wetlands 21:281–291.
- Klumb, R.A., Rudstam, L.G., Mills, E.L., Schneider, C.P., and Sawko, P.M. 2003. Importance of Lake Ontario embayments and nearshore habitats as nurseries for larval fish with emphasis on alewife (*Alosa pseudoharengus*). Journal of Great Lakes Research 29:181-198.
- Madenjian, C.P., R. O'Gorman, D.B. Bunnell, R.L. Argyle, D.M. Warner, J.D. Stockwell, and M.A. Stapanian. 2008. Adverse effects of alewives on Laurentian Great Lakes fish communities. North American Journal of Fish Management 28:263 – 282.
- O'Brien, T.P., W.W. Taylor, E.F. Roseman, C.P. Madenjian, and S.C. Riley. 2014. Ecological factors affecting rainbow smelt recruitment in the main basin of Lake Huron, 1976-2010. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 143:784-795.
- Parker-Stetter, S.L., Rudstam, L.G., Sullivan, P.J., and Warner, D.M. 2009. Standard operating procedures for fisheries acoustic surveys in the Great Lakes. Great Lakes Fishery Commission Special Publication 09-01.
- Riley, S.C., E.F. Roseman, D. Hondorp, M. Chriscinske, E. Glassini, and M. Smith. 2017. Status and trends of the Lake Huron offshore demersal fish community, 1976-2016. A report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Huron Committee, Ypsilanti, MI, March 21, 2017.
- Rudstam, L. G., S. L. Parker, D. W. Einhouse, L. Witzel, D. M. Warner, J. Stritzel, D. L. Parrish, and P. Sullivan. 2003. Application of *in-situ* target strength to abundance estimations in lakes- examples from rainbow smelt surveys in Lakes Erie and Champlain. ICES Journal of Marine Science 60: 500-507.
- Rudstam, L. G., Parker-Stetter, S. L., Sullivan, P. J., and Warner, D. M. 2009. Towards a standard operating procedure for fishery acoustic surveys in the Laurentian Great Lakes, North America. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 66: 1391–1397.
- SAS Institute,, Inc. 2007. Online Doc 9.1.2. Cary, NC, SAS Institute, Inc.
- Sawada, K., Furusawa, M., and Williamson, N. J. 1993. Conditions for the precise measurement of fish target strength in situ. Journal of the Marine Acoustical Society of Japan, 20: 73–79.
- Schaeffer, J.S., D.M. Warner, and T.P. O'Brien. 2008. Resurgence of emerald shiners *Notropis atherinoides* in Lake Huron's Main Basin. Journal of Great Lakes Research 34:395-403.
- Stockwell, J. D., D. L. Yule, T. R. Hrabik, J. V. Adams, O. T. Gorman, and B. V. Holbrook. 2007. Vertical distribution of fish biomass in Lake Superior; implications for day bottom trawl surveys. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 27: 735-749.

- TeWinkel, L. M., and G. W. Fleischer. 1999. Vertical Migration and Nighttime Distribution of Adult Bloaters in Lake Michigan. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 128: 459-474.
- Warner, D.M., L. G. Rudstam, and R. A. Klumb. 2002. In-situ target strength of alewives in freshwater. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 131: 212-223.
- Warner, D.M., J.S. Schaeffer, and T.P. O'Brien. 2009. The Lake Huron pelagic fish community: persistent spatial pattern along biomass and species composition gradients. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 66:1199 - 1215.
- Warner, D.M., R.M. Claramunt, J.S. Schaeffer, D.L. Yule, T.R. Hrabik, B. Pientka, L.G. Rudstam, J.D. Holuszko, and T.P. O'Brien. 2012. Relationship between mid-water trawling effort and catch composition uncertainty in two large lakes (Huron and Michigan) dominated by alosines, osmerids, and coregonines. Fisheries Research 123/124:62-69.
- Warner, D.M., R.M. Claramunt, D. Hanson, T. Desorcie, T.P. O'Brien, P.M. Armenio, L.Ogilvie, L. Ogilvie, and K. Donner. 2017. Status of pelagic prey fish in Lake Michigan, 2016. A report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Michigan Committee, Ypsilanti, MI, March 20, 2017.
- Williamson, N.J. 1982. Cluster sampling estimation of the variance of abundance estimates derived from quantitative echo sounder surveys. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 39:228-231.
- Yule, D.L., J.V. Adams, T.R. Hrabik, M.R. Vinson, Z. Woiak, and T.D. Ahrenstorff. 2013. Use of Classification Trees to Apportion Single Echo Detections to Species: Application to the Pelagic Fish Community of Lake Superior. Fisheries Research 140:123-132.
- Yule, D.L., J. V. Adams, J. D. Stockwell, and O.T. Gorman. 2008. Factors affecting bottom trawl catches; implications for monitoring the fishes in Lake Superior. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 28: 109-122.

Parameter	Value
TS threshold (dB)	$-77^{1}$
Pulse length determination level (dB)	6
Minimum normalized pulse length	0.7
Maximum normalized pulse length	1.5
Maximum beam compensation (dB)	6
Maximum standard deviation of minor-axis angles	0.6
Maximum standard deviation of major-axis angles	0.6

Appendix 1. Single target detection parameters used in acoustic data analyses in 2016.

<sup>1</sup>Only targets  $\geq$ -60 dB were included in analysis

Appendix 2. Noise levels, detection limits, and acoustic equipment specifications in Lake Huron, 2016.

Vessel	R/V Sturgeon	M/V Spencer Baird
Collection software	Visual Acquisition 6.0	ER60 2.2
Transducer beam angle (3dB)	8.28° split beam	6.53° split beam
Frequency (kHz)	120	120
Pulse length (ms)	0.4	0.256
Sv noise at 1 m (dB)	-125	-125
2 way equivalent beam angle	-19.78	-21
Detection limit (m) for -60 dB target <sup>2</sup>	>100	>100

<sup>2</sup> Assuming 3 dB signal-to-noise ratio.

# **Appendix 3. Supplement to methods**

Acoustic data collected in 1997 were analyzed using custom software (Argyle et al. 1998). Data collected in 2004 and later years were analyzed using Echoview<sup>TM</sup> software, which provided fish density estimates for each sampling unit. Fish density was calculated as:

Density (fish / ha) = 
$$10^4 \bullet \frac{ABC}{\sigma}$$

where *ABC* was the area backscattering coefficient  $(m^2 / m^2)$  of each 10 m high by 1000-3,000 m long cell, and  $\sigma$  was the mean backscattering cross section  $(m^2)$  of all targets between -60 and - 30 dB in each cell. The lower threshold should have included any age-0 alewives present (Warner et al. 2002), but may have underestimated age-0 rainbow smelt density (Rudstam et al. 2003). The upper threshold excluded fish larger than our species of interest.

In 1997, a BioSonics model 102 dual-beam echosounder was used to collect acoustic data during pelagic fish surveys. During 2004-2005 and 2007-2008 acoustic data were collected during September through early October with a BioSonics split-beam 120 kHz echosounder deployed from the Research Vessel (R/V) *Sturgeon*. During 2006, acoustic data were collected during August with a 70 kHz echosounder and a transducer deployed via towfish from the R/V *Grayling*. During 2009, the survey was performed with a 38 kHz echosounder because the 120

#### Status and Trends of Prey Fish Populations in Lake Michigan, 2016<sup>1,2</sup>

David B. Bunnell, Charles P. Madenjian, Timothy J. Desorcie, Melissa J. Kostich, Patricia Armenio, and Jean V. Adams U. S. Geological Survey Great Lakes Science Center 1451 Green Road Ann Arbor, Michigan 48105

#### Abstract

The U.S. Geological Survey Great Lakes Science Center has conducted lake-wide surveys of the fish community in Lake Michigan each fall since 1973 using standard 12-m bottom trawls towed along contour at depths of 9 to 110 m at each of seven index transects. The resulting data on relative abundance, size and age structure, and condition of individual fishes are used to estimate various population parameters that are in turn used by state and tribal agencies in managing Lake Michigan fish stocks. All seven established index transects of the survey were completed in 2016. The survey provides relative abundance and biomass estimates between the 5-m and 114-m depth contours of the lake (herein, lake-wide) for prey fish populations, as well as burbot, yellow perch. Lake-wide biomass of alewives in 2016 was estimated at 0.35 kilotonnes (kt, 1 kt = 1000 metric tonnes), which was a record low, and 30% lower than in 2015. Age distribution of alewives remained truncated with no alewife exceeding age 4. Bloater biomass increased twofold from 2.8 kt in 2015 to 5.9 kt in 2016. Round goby biomass increased fourfold from 0.3 kt in 2015 to 1.1 kt in 2016. Rainbow smelt biomass also increased fourfold up to 0.3 kt in 2016, but it was still the seventh straight year under 1 kt. Both sculpin species also were estimated higher in 2016 relative to 2015: slimy sculpins were estimated at 0.8 kt (highest since 2011) and deepwater sculpins were estimated at 3.0 kt (highest since 2009). Ninespine stickleback remained at near record low levels of biomass (0.003 kt). Burbot lake-wide biomass (0.2 kt in 2016) has remained below 3 kt since 2001. Age-0 yellow perch abundance was estimated to be 2.4 fish per ha, which is indicative of a relatively weak year-class. Overall, the total lake-wide prey fish biomass estimate (sum of alewife, bloater, rainbow smelt, deepwater sculpin, slimy sculpin, round goby, and ninespine stickleback) in 2016 was 11.4 kt, nearly a threefold increase over 2015 but still the third lowest estimate in the 44-year time series. In 2016, bloater and deepwater sculpin, two native fishes, constituted 78% of this total.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Presented at Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Michigan Committee Meeting, Ypsilanti, MI on March 20, 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The data associated with this report have not received final approval by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) and are currently under review. The Great Lakes Science Center is committed to complying with the Office of Management and Budget data release requirements and providing the public with high quality scientific data. We plan to make all USGS research vessel data collected between 1958 and 2016 publicly available from the GLSC website later in 2017. The anticipated citation will be <u>http://doi.org/10.5066/F75M63X0</u>. Please direct any immediate questions to our Information Technology Specialist, Scott Nelson, at <u>snelson@usgs.gov</u>.

The U.S. Geological Survey Great Lakes Science Center (GLSC) has conducted daytime bottom trawl surveys in Lake Michigan during the fall annually since 1973. Estimates from the 1998 survey are not reported, however, given the trawls were towed at non-standard speeds. From these surveys, the relative abundance of the prey fish populations are measured, and estimates of lake-wide biomass available to the bottom trawls (for the region of the main basin between the 5-m and 114-m depth contours) can be generated (Hatch et al. 1981; Brown and Stedman 1995). Such estimates are critical to fisheries managers making decisions on stocking and harvest rates of salmonines and allowable harvests of fish by commercial fishing operations.

The basic unit of sampling in our surveys is a 10-minute tow using a bottom trawl (12-m headrope, 25 to 45-mm bar mesh in net body, 6.4-mm bar mesh in cod end) dragged on contour at 9-m (5 fathom) depth increments. At most survey locations, towing depths range from 9 or 18 m to 110 m. In 2013, we began adding tows at deeper depths (i.e., 128 m) to assess the extent to which populations of deepwater sculpins and bloater have migrated outside of our traditional survey range. Since then, we have sampled deeper depths offshore of all ports except Waukegan, for a total of 17 "deep" tows. To maintain time series consistency, these tows are not included in our time series results but are specifically noted for some species.

Ages were estimated for alewives (*Alosa pseudoharengus*, using otoliths) and bloaters (*Coregonus hoyi*, using scales) from our bottom trawl catches (Madenjian et al. 2003; Bunnell et al. 2006a). Although our surveys have included as many as nine index transects in any given year, we have consistently conducted the surveys at seven transects, only data from those transects are reported herein. These transects are situated off Manistique, Frankfort, Ludington, and Saugatuck, Michigan; Waukegan, Illinois; and Port Washington and Sturgeon Bay, Wisconsin (Figure 1). All seven transects were completed in 2016.





Indices of lake-wide biomass of fishes vulnerable to the bottom trawl require accurate measures of (1) the surface areas that represent the depths sampled and (2) bottom area swept by the trawl. A complete Geographical Information System (GIS) based on depth soundings at 2-km intervals in Lake Michigan was developed as part of the acoustics study performed by Argyle et al. (1998). This GIS database was used to estimate the surface area for each individual depth zone surveyed by the bottom trawls. In June 2009, we used trawl mensuration gear to monitor net configuration during deployment. It provided specific correction factors for width of the net and actual time on bottom when sampling at 2.1 mph (Madenjian et al. 2010a) that were applied to all years through 2015.

We revisited these relationships in June 2016 given that we switched to the R/V Arcticus, which has a wider beam than the previously used R/V Grayling. In addition to trawl mensuration gear, we also used a go-pro camera and adjusted the number of chain links that connect the door to the bridle to improve the angle upon which the doors fish the net. We found that the relationship between bottom depth, D, and width of the net, W,

needed to be updated for the R/V Arcticus:  $W = 6.43 + 6.55(1 - e^{-0.074*D})$ . On average, the trawl fished

about 2.9 m wider on the R/V Arcticus compared to what we measured on the R/V Grayling in 2009. In 2016, we also began directly estimating time on bottom for each tow with an RBR sensor that was attached to the head rope, and which estimates sensor depth every second. After every tow, we plotted time versus depth to determine when the net settled on the bottom and when it came off the bottom. We only applied these changes (new width prediction, empirical time on bottom) in 2016, even though the R/V Arcticus was first used in 2015- largely because the chain link adjustments were not made in 2015.

We estimate both numeric (fish per hectare [ha]) and biomass (kg per ha) density, although we display graphical trends mostly in biomass for brevity. A weighted mean density over the entire range of depths sampled (within the 5-m to 114-m depth contours) was estimated by first calculating mean density for each depth zone, and then weighting mean density for each depth zone by the proportion of lake surface area assigned to that depth zone. Standard error (SE) of mean density was estimated by weighting the variances of fish density in each of the depth zones by the appropriate weight (squared proportion of surface area in the depth zone), averaging the weighted variances over all depth zones, and taking the square root of the result.

# NUMERIC AND BIOMASS DENSITY BY SPECIES

By convention, we classify "adult" prey fish as age 1 or older, based on total length (TL): alewives  $\geq 100$ mm, rainbow smelt (*Osmerus mordax*)  $\ge$  90 mm, bloaters  $\ge$  120 mm, and yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*)  $\geq$  100 mm. We assume all fish smaller than the above length cut-offs are age-0; length cut-offs are also aided by aging of alewife (by otoliths) and bloater (by scales). Catches of age-0 alewife are not reliable indicators of future year-class strength (Madenjian et al. 2005a), because their position in the water column makes them less vulnerable to bottom trawls. Catches of age-0 bloater, though biased low, can be used as an index of relative abundance given the positive correlation between density of age-0 bloater and density of age-3 bloater (the age at which catch curves reveal full recruitment to our gear, Bunnell et al. 2006a, 2010). Catch of age-0 (< 100 mm TL) yellow perch is likely a good indicator of year-class strength, given that large catches in the bottom trawl during the 1980s corresponded to the strong yellow perch fishery. At the end of this report, we also present densities of age-0 yellow perch and other bottomdwelling species such as burbot (Lota lota) that are not necessarily "prey fish" but are caught in sufficient numbers to index. Unfortunately lake whitefish (Coregonus clupeaformis) are only rarely sampled in our trawl and the resultant trends are not meaningful. Since 1999, dreissenid mussels sampled in the trawl have also been sorted and weighed (but not counted), and their biomass is reported in the Appendix. Beginning this year, we do not report the time series for dreissenid mussel biomass because the annual estimate is extremely sensitive to our ability to retrieve hundreds of pounds of mussels in the trawl on to the boat, often times with assistance of the crane on the back deck. Because we retrieved all but one tow this year (the cod end came undone owing to a large mussel load at Ludington 73 m in 2016), the mussel biomass estimate was extremely large. In contrast, during 2011-2014 on the R/V Grayling, most large mussel hauls were not retrieved because its crane was underpowered.

<u>Alewife</u> – Since its establishment in the 1950s, the alewife has become a key member of the fish community. As a larval predator, adult alewife can depress recruitment of native fishes, including burbot, deepwater sculpin (*Myoxocephalus thompsonii*), emerald shiner (*Notropis atherinoides*), lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*), and yellow perch (Smith 1970; Wells and McLain 1973; Madenjian et al. 2005b, 2008; Bunnell et al. 2006b). Additionally, alewife has remained the most important constituent of salmonine diet in Lake Michigan for the last 45 years (Jude et al. 1987; Stewart and Ibarra 1991; Warner et al. 2008; Jacobs et al. 2013). Most of the alewives consumed by salmonines in Lake Michigan are eaten by Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*, Madenjian et al. 2002; Tsehaye et al. 2014). A commercial harvest was established in Wisconsin waters of Lake Michigan in the 1960s to make use of

the then extremely abundant alewife that had become a nuisance and health hazard along the lakeshore. In 1986, a quota was implemented, and as a result of these restrictions, the estimated annual alewife harvest declined from about 7,600 metric tons in 1985 to an incidental harvest after 1990. Lake Michigan currently has no commercial fishery for alewives.

According to the bottom trawl survey results, adult alewife biomass density equaled 0.03 kg per ha in 2016, a record low (Figure 2a). Likewise, adult alewife numeric density in 2016 equaled a record-low estimate of 2.5 fish per ha (Figure 2b). In 2016, 84% of tows and four ports failed to sample any alewife (Figure 3). Since 2013, alewives have been sampled in 10 of 17 deep tows. For 7 of them, alewife biomass density at 128 m was higher than at 110 m, suggesting that some proportion of the alewife population is in waters deeper than 110 m.



Figure 2. Density of adult alewives as biomass (a) and number (b) per ha (+/- standard error) in Lake Michigan, 1973-2016.



Figure 3. Scaled-symbol plot showing the biomass of alewife sampled at each of the 2016 bottom trawl sites.

The long-term temporal trends in adult alewife biomass, as well as in alewife recruitment to age 3, in Lake Michigan are attributable to consumption of alewives by salmonines (Madenjian et al. 2002, 2005a; Tsehaye et al. 2014). Several factors have likely maintained this high predation pressure in the 2000s including: a relatively high percentage (>50%) of wild age-1 Chinook salmon in Lake Michigan (Williams 2012), increased migration of Chinook salmon from Lake Huron in search of alewives (Adlerstein et al. 2007; R. Clark, Michigan State University Quantitative Fisheries Center, personal communication), increased importance of alewives in the diet of Chinook salmon in Lake Michigan (Jacobs et al. 2013), a decrease in the energy density of adult alewives (Madenjian et al. 2006), and increases in lake trout abundance due to increased rates of stocking and natural reproduction (FWS/GLFC 2016; Lake Michigan LTWG 2016).

In 2016, the bottom trawl survey only captured 36 "adult" (i.e.,  $\geq 100$  TL) alewives for which we typically construct an agelength distribution. The age composition of these fish was dominated by age-1 (48%, 2015 year-class) and age-4 (31%, 2012 year-class) fish. The age-0 (2016 yearclass), age-3 (2013 year-class), and age-2 (2014 year-class) fish represented 10%, 7%, and 4%, respectively (Figure 4). No alewives older than age 4 were caught in the survey, thus, the recent trend of age truncation in the alewife population continued through 2016. Prior to 2008, age-8 alewives were routinely captured.



# Figure 4. Age-length distribution of alewives $\geq$ 100 mm total length caught in bottom trawls in Lake Michigan, 2016.

Both the acoustic and bottom trawl survey time series for total alewife biomass are in general agreement, indicating that biomass during 2004-2016 was relatively low compared with biomass during 1994-1996 (Warner et al. 2017). Across the 21 years, however, the acoustic estimate has been higher than the bottom trawl survey estimate 81% of the time. The discrepancy between the two estimates has increased between 2014 and 2016, with the acoustic estimate being 10-40 times higher. The acoustic survey likely provides a less biased estimate of younger

(age 3 and younger) alewives, owing to their pelagic orientation. Thus, this recent higher discrepancy between the two surveys may have been partly due to the alewife population in the lake becoming younger in recent years, but other factors were also likely involved. In addition, the acoustic survey reported a 14% increase in total alewife biomass in 2016, relative to 2015.

<u>Bloater</u> - Bloaters are eaten by salmonines in Lake Michigan, but are far less prevalent in salmonine diets than alewives (Warner et al. 2008; Jacobs et al. 2010, 2013). For large ( $\geq 600$  mm) lake trout, over 30% of the diets offshore of Saugatuck and on Sheboygan Reef were composed of adult bloaters during 1994-1995, although adult bloaters were a minor component of lake trout diet at Sturgeon Bay (Madenjian et al. 1998). For Chinook salmon, the importance of bloater (by wet weight) in the diets has declined between 1994-1995 and 2009-2010. For small (< 500 mm) Chinook salmon the proportion declined from 9% to 6% and for large Chinook salmon the proportion declined from 14% to <1% (Jacobs et al. 2013). The bloater population in Lake Michigan also supports a valuable commercial fishery, although its yield has declined sharply since the late 1990s.

Adult bloater biomass density in our survey has been < 10 kg per ha since 1999 (Figure 5a). In 2016, bloater biomass equaled 0.74 kg per ha, very similar to the 2015 estimate. Numeric density of age-0



# Figure 5. Panel (a) depicts biomass density (+/- standard error) of adult bloater in Lake Michigan, 1973-2016. Panel (b) depicts numeric density (+/- standard error) of age-0 bloater in Lake Michigan, 1973-2016.

bloaters (< 120 mm TL), however, were 160 per ha, which was the highest estimate since 1990 (Figure 5b). Bloaters were sampled in all seven ports in 2016 (Figure 6), with the highest mean biomass at Port Washington and Ludington. Since 2013, bloaters have been sampled in 7 of 17 deep tows. For only 3 of them, bloater biomass density at 128 m was higher than at 110 m, suggesting that a relatively small proportion of the bloater population is in waters deeper than 110 m.

The exact mechanisms underlying the relatively poor bloater recruitment since 1992 (Figure 5b), and the low biomass of adult bloater since 2007 (Figure 5a), remain unknown. Madenjian et al. (2002) proposed that the Lake Michigan bloater population may be cycling in abundance, with a period of about 30 years, although the exact mechanism by which recruitment is regulated remains unknown. Of the mechanisms that have been recently evaluated, reductions in fecundity associated with poorer condition (Bunnell et al. 2009) and egg predation by slimy and deepwater sculpins (Bunnell et al. 2014a) are likely contributing to the reduced bloater recruitment, but none is the primary regulating factor.



Figure 6. Scaled-symbol plot showing the biomass of bloater sampled at each of the 2016 bottom trawl sites.

An important consideration when interpreting the bottom trawl survey results is that bloater catchability may have decreased in recent years, in response to the proliferation of quagga mussels and the associated increased water clarity and decreased *Diporeia* spp. densities, which could be responsible for a shift to the more pelagic calanoid copepods in their diets (Bunnell et al. 2015). Hence, one hypothesis is that bloaters are less vulnerable to our daytime bottom trawls either owing to behavioral changes (more pelagic during the day) or increased ability to avoid the net while on the bottom (due to clearer water). If increased ability to avoid the net underlies changing catchability for bloater, it also raises the possibility that this factor is affecting other species, such as alewife.

Both the acoustic and bottom trawl survey report that biomass of bloater was at least an order of magnitude higher during 1992-1996 than during 2001-2016. A comparison of the two surveys during 1992-2006 revealed that the biomass estimate from the bottom trawl survey was always higher (79%, on average) than the acoustic survey estimate. Since 2007, which survey yielded the highest estimate has been more variable. In 2016, total biomass density estimated for bloater was twice as high in the bottom trawl survey (1.66 kg per ha) than in the acoustic survey (0.79 kg per ha). Age-0 bloater trends also have revealed differences between surveys through time. During 1992-1996, both surveys

reported age-0 bloater per ha to range between 0.3 and 6.2 fish per ha. Since 2001, however, the acoustic survey has reported nine years where age-0 bloater per ha exceeded 100 per ha; the bottom trawl survey has only reported one such year- 2016. One potential explanation for these inconsistent differences in survey results over time is that catchability of age-0 bloater with the bottom trawl decreased sometime during the 2000s.

<u>Rainbow smelt</u> – Adult rainbow smelt have been an important part of the diet for intermediate-sized (400 to 600 mm) lake trout in the nearshore waters of Lake Michigan (Stewart et al. 1983; Madenjian et al. 1998; Jacobs et al. 2010). For Chinook salmon, rainbow smelt comprised as much as 18% in the diets of small individuals in 1994-1996, but that dropped precipitously to 2% in 2009-2010 and rainbow smelt has been consistently rare in the diets of larger Chinook salmon since 1994 (Jacobs et al. 2013). The rainbow smelt population has traditionally supported commercial fisheries in Wisconsin and Michigan waters (e.g., Belonger et al. 1998), but its yields have also declined through time. Between 1971 and 1999, more than 1.3 million pounds were annually harvested on average. Between 2000 and 2011, the annual average dropped to about 375,000 pounds. Since 2013, less than 2,000 pounds have been harvested per year.



Figure 7. Biomass density (+/- standard error) of adult (a) and age-0 (b) rainbow smelt in Lake Michigan, 1973-2016.



Figure 8. Scaled-symbol plot showing the biomass of rainbow smelt sampled at each of the 2016 bottom trawl sites.

Similar to the commercial yields, adult rainbow smelt biomass density in the bottom trawl has remained at low levels since 2001, aside from a relatively high estimate in 2005 (Figure 7a). Biomass density in 2016 was 0.04 kg per ha. Age-0 rainbow smelt numeric density has been highly variable since 1999 (Figure 7b), but equaled only 66 fish per ha in 2016, marking six consecutive year-classes with <100 fish per ha. Rainbow smelt were sampled in five of seven ports in 2016 (Figure 8), with the highest mean biomass at the northern ports of Manistique and Sturgeon Bay. Causes for the general decline in rainbow smelt biomass and production remain unclear. Consumption of rainbow smelt by salmonines was higher in the mid-1980s than during the 1990s (Madenjian et al. 2002), yet adult and age-0 (< 90 mm TL) rainbow smelt abundance remained high during the 1980s (Figure 7b). Results from a recent population modeling exercise suggested that predation by salmonines was not the primary driver of long-term temporal trends in Lake Michigan rainbow smelt abundance (Tsehaye et al. 2014). Furthermore, a recent analysis of our time series suggested that the productivity of the population has actually increased since 2000 (relative to 1982-1999), yet those recruits do not appear to be surviving to the adult population (Feiner et al. 2015).

The bottom trawl and acoustic surveys detected similar temporal trends, with biomass densities an order of magnitude higher, on average, during 1992-1996 than during 2001-2014. A comparison of the two survey estimates revealed that acoustic survey always exceeds that of the bottom trawl survey, on average by a factor of 6. This difference is not surprising given that rainbow smelt tend to be more pelagic than other prey species during the day. In 2016, the total biomass estimate for all rainbow smelt was 0.76 kg per ha for the acoustic survey (Warner et al. 2017), which was more than 9 times greater than the bottom trawl survey estimate (0.08 kg/ha).

<u>Sculpins</u> – From a biomass perspective, the cottid populations in Lake Michigan have been dominated by deepwater sculpins, and to a lesser degree, slimy sculpins (*Cottus cognatus*). Spoonhead sculpins (*Cottus ricei*), once fairly common, suffered declines to become rare to absent by the mid-1970s (Eck and Wells 1987). Spoonhead sculpins were encountered in small numbers in our survey between 1990 and 1999 (e.g., Potter and Fleischer 1992), but have not been sampled since 1999. Slimy sculpin is a favored prey of juvenile lake trout in nearshore regions of the lake (Stewart et al. 1983; Madenjian et al. 1998), but is only a minor part of adult lake trout diets. When abundant, deepwater sculpin can be an important diet constituent for burbot in Lake Michigan, especially in deeper waters (Van Oosten and Deason 1938; Brown and Stedman 1995; Fratt et al. 1997).



Figure 9. Biomass density (+/- standard error) for deepwater (a) and slimy sculpin (b) in Lake Michigan, 1973-2016.

Deepwater sculpin biomass density in 2016 was 0.85 kg per ha, a nearly 8-fold increase over 2015 and the highest estimate since 2009 (Figure 9a). Previous analysis of the time series indicated deepwater sculpin density is negatively influenced by alewife (predation on sculpin larvae) and burbot (predation on juvenile and adult sculpin, Madenjian et al. 2005b). Based on bottom trawl survey results, neither alewife nor burbot significantly increased in abundance during 2007-2015 to account for this decline in deepwater sculpins. Following no clear trend between 1990 and 2005, the biomass of deepwater sculpin sampled in the bottom trawl has declined since 2005. Madenjian and Bunnell (2008) demonstrated that deepwater sculpins have been captured at increasingly greater depths since the 1980s. Therefore, one potential explanation for the recent declines in deepwater sculpin densities is that an increasing proportion of the population is now occupying depths deeper than those sampled by our survey (i.e., 110 m), perhaps in response to the decline of *Diporeia* and proliferation of dreissenid mussels. Furthermore, because the deepwater sculpin has historically occupied deeper depths than any of the other prey fishes of Lake Michigan, a shift to waters deeper than 110 m would seem to be a reasonable explanation for the recent declines. Our sampling at deeper depths has been supportive of this hypothesis. Since 2013, deepwater sculpins have been sampled in all 17 deep tows. For 13 of them,

deepwater sculpin biomass density at 128 m was higher than at 110 m, suggesting that a relatively large proportion of the population is in waters deeper than 110 m.

Slimy sculpin biomass density was 0.23 kg per ha in 2016, a significant increase over 2015. In fact, slimy sculpin had been declining between 2009 and 2015, although this followed several "sawtooth" patterns in slimy sculpin biomass since around 1995 (Figure 9b). Slimy sculpin abundance in Lake Michigan is regulated, at least in part, by predation from juvenile lake trout (Madenjian et al. 2005b). We attribute the slimy sculpin recovery that occurred during the 1990s to, in part, the 1986 decision to emphasize stocking lake trout on offshore reefs (outside of our sampling area, Madenjian et al. 2002). Likewise, the slimy sculpin decline that began in 2009 coincided with a substantial increase in the rate of stocking juvenile lake trout into Lake Michigan and an increase in natural reproduction by lake trout (FWS/GLFC 2016; Lake Michigan LTWG 2016). Since 2013, slimy sculpins have been sampled in 11 out of 17 deep tows. For only 4 of them, however, slimy sculpin biomass density at 128 m was higher than at 110 m, suggesting that a relatively small proportion of the population is in waters deeper than 110 m.



Figure 10. Biomass density (+/- standard error) of round goby (a) and ninespine stickleback (b) in Lake Michigan, 1973-2016.

**Round goby** – The round goby (*Neogobius melanostomus*) is an invader from the Black and Caspian



Figure 11. Scaled-symbol plot showing the biomass of round goby sampled at each of the 2016 bottom trawl sites.

Seas. Round gobies have been observed in bays and harbors of Lake Michigan since 1993, and were captured in the southern main basin of the lake as early as 1997 (Clapp et al. 2001). Round gobies were not captured in the GLSC bottom trawl survey until 2003; our survey likely markedly underestimates round goby abundance given their preferred habitat includes rocky and inshore (i.e., < 9 m bottom depth) areas that we do not sample. By 2002, round gobies had become an integral component of yellow perch diets at nearshore sites (i.e., < 15 m depth) in southern Lake Michigan. Recent studies have revealed round gobies are an important constituent of the diets of Lake Michigan burbot (Hensler et al. 2008; Jacobs et al. 2010), yellow perch (Truemper et al. 2006), smallmouth bass (Micropterus dolomieu, T. Galarowicz, Central Michigan University, personal communication), lake trout (McKenna 2014), and even lake whitefish (S. Hansen, Wisconsin DNR, personal communication).

Round goby biomass density equaled 0.32 kg per ha in 2016 (Figure 10a). Since 2011, round goby biomass has ranged between 0.30 and 1.0 kg per ha in every year except for 2013 (due to a few extraordinarily large catches inflating the mean and causing high uncertainty) and 2015 (due to consistently low catches). Round goby were sampled in all seven ports in 2016 (Figure 11), with the highest mean biomass at Sturgeon Bay. We hypothesize that round goby abundance in Lake Michigan is being controlled by predation. This hypothesis was supported by recent estimates of annual mortality rates of between 79 and 84% (Huo et al. 2014), which are comparable to the mortality rates currently experienced by Lake Michigan adult alewives (Tsehaye et al. 2014).

<u>Ninespine stickleback</u> – Two stickleback species occur in Lake Michigan. Ninespine stickleback (*Pungitius pungitius*) is native, whereas threespine stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*) is non-native and was first collected in the GLSC bottom trawl survey during 1984 (Stedman and Bowen 1985), but has been extremely rare in recent sampling years. Biomass density of ninespine stickleback in 2016 was only 0.8 g per ha, the second lowest estimate ever recorded (Figure 10b). Biomass of ninespine stickleback remained fairly low from 1973-1995 and then increased dramatically through 2007, perhaps attributable to dreissenid mussels enhancing ninespine stickleback spawning and nursery habitat through proliferation of *Cladophora* (Madenjian et al. 2010b). Since 2008, however, biomass has been maintained at or near record-low levels. One plausible explanation for the low ninespine stickleback abundance during 2008-2016 is that piscivores began to incorporate ninespine sticklebacks into their diets as the abundance of alewives has remained at a low level. For example, Jacobs et al. (2013) found ninespine sticklebacks to show up in large Chinook salmon diets (i.e., 2% occurrence) during 2009-2010 after 0% occurrence in 1994-1996.

#### LAKE-WIDE BIOMASS

We estimated a total lake-wide biomass of prey fish available to the bottom trawl in 2016 of 11.4 kilotonnes (kt) (1 kt = 1000 metric tons) (Figure 12a, Appendix 1). Total prey fish biomass was the sum of the population biomass estimates for alewife, bloater, rainbow smelt, deepwater sculpin, slimy sculpin, ninespine stickleback, and round goby. Total prey fish biomass in Lake Michigan has trended downward since 1989, primarily due to a dramatic decrease in bloater biomass (Figure 12a). Total biomass first dropped below 30 kt in 2007, and has since remained below that level with the exception of 2013 (when the biomass estimates for alewife and round goby were highly uncertain).



Figure 12. Estimated lake-wide (i.e., 5-114 m depth region) biomass of prey fishes in Lake Michigan, 1973-2016 (a) and species composition in 2016 (b).

As Figure 12b depicts, the 2016 prey fish biomass was apportioned as: bloater 51.3% (5.86 kt), deepwater

sculpin 26.3% (3.0 kt), round goby 9.9% (1.13 kt), slimy sculpin 7.0% (0.80 kt), alewife 3.0% (0.35 kt), rainbow smelt 2.5% (0.28 kt), and ninespine stickleback 0.02% (0.003 kt).

#### OTHER SPECIES OF INTEREST

<u>Burbot</u> – Burbot and lake trout represent the native top predators in Lake Michigan. The decline in burbot abundance in Lake Michigan during the 1950s has been attributed to sea lamprey predation (Wells and McLain 1973). Sea lamprey control was a necessary condition for recovery of the burbot population in Lake Michigan, however Eshenroder and Burnham-Curtis (1999) proposed that a reduction in alewife abundance was an additional prerequisite for burbot recovery.

Burbot collected in the bottom trawls are typically large individuals (>350 mm TL); juvenile burbot apparently inhabit areas not usually covered by the bottom trawl survey. Burbot biomass density was 0.06 kg per ha in 2016, the lowest estimate since 1983 when none were captured. After a period of low numeric density in the 1970s, burbot showed a strong recovery in the 1980s (Figure 13a). Densities increased through 1997, but declined thereafter. It is unclear why burbot catches in the bottom trawl survey have declined in the face of relatively low alewife densities.



Figure 13. Biomass density (+/- standard error) of burbot (a) and numeric density (+/- standard error) of age-0 yellow perch (b) in Lake Michigan, 1973-2016.

<u>Age-0 yellow perch</u> – The yellow perch population in Lake Michigan has supported valuable recreational and commercial fisheries (Wells 1977). GLSC bottom trawl surveys provide an index of age-0 yellow perch numeric density, which serves as an indication of yellow perch recruitment success. The 2005 year-class of yellow perch was the largest ever recorded (Figure 13b) and the 2009 and 2010 year-classes also were higher than average. In 2016, age-0 yellow perch abundance was only 2.4 fish per ha, which is indicative of a weak year-class.

# CONCLUSIONS

In 2016, total prey fish biomass was estimated to be 11.4 kt, a 275% increase over 2015. This increase cannot be attributable to the new estimation for calculating area swept in 2016. The trawl widths that we measured while deploying the bottom trawl from the R/V Arcticus during June 2016 were 30% greater than those measured off the R/V Grayling, whereas time on bottom measured during June 2016 with the R/V Arcticus was 24% less than that measured previously off the R/V Grayling. Thus, the increase in trawl width was nearly balanced by the decrease in time on bottom such that the total prey fish biomass

estimated by the swept-area equations corresponding to R/V Grayling operation would have been 11.7 kt, which was very similar to the estimate of 11.4 kt derived from using the swept-area equations corresponding to R/V Arcticus operation. Relative to previous years in the time series, however, total prey fish biomass for 2016 was still relatively low- the third lowest estimate ever.

This low level of prey fish biomass can be attributable to a suite of factors, two of which can be clearly identified: (1) a prolonged period of poor bloater recruitment since 1992 and (2) intensified predation on alewives by salmonines during the 2000s and 2010s. Adult alewife density has been maintained at a relatively low level over the last 11 years and the age distribution of the adult alewife population has become especially truncated in recent years. As recent as 2007, alewives as old as age 9 were sampled in this survey, whereas the oldest alewife sampled in 2013-2014 was age 5 and the oldest alewife sampled in 2016 was age 4.

In addition to the importance of top-down forces, prey fishes also may be negatively influenced by reduced prey resources (i.e., "bottom-up" effects). For example, several data sets are indicating a reduction in the base of the food-web- particularly for offshore total phosphorus and phytoplankton- as a consequence of long-term declines in phosphorus inputs and the proliferation of dreissenid mussels (Evans et al. 2011; Bunnell et al. 2014b). Grazing of phytoplankton by dreissenid mussels appeared to be the primary driver of the 35% decline in primary production in offshore waters between the 1983-1987 and 2007-2011 periods (Madenjian et al. 2015). The evidence for declines in "fish food" (e.g., zooplankton, benthic invertebrates) in offshore waters of Lake Michigan is somewhat less clear. Diporeia has undoubtedly declined in abundance (Nalepa et al. 2014), but whether or not crustacean zooplankton and mysids have declined depends on which data set is examined (e.g., Pothoven et al. 2010; Bunnell et al. 2014b; Madenjian et al. 2015). Crustacean zooplankton biomass density in nearshore waters appeared to decrease during 1998-2010, likely due to a reduction in primary production mainly stemming from grazing of phytoplankton by dreissenid mussels. The above-mentioned decline in Diporeia abundance appeared to have led to reductions in growth, condition, and/or energy density of lake whitefish, alewives, bloaters, and deepwater sculpins during the 1990s and 2000s (Pothoven et al. 2011, 2012; Madenjian et al. 2015). Of course, decreases in growth, condition, and energy density do not necessarily cause declines in fish abundance. The challenge remains to quantify bottom-up effects on prey fish abundances and biomasses in Lake Michigan. Given the complexities of the food web, disentangling the effects of the dreissenid mussel invasions and the reduction in nutrient loadings from other factors influencing the Lake Michigan food web will require a substantial amount of ecological detective work.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Capt. Shawn Parsons and Engineers Erin Grivicich and Brad Briggs for their seamanship on our 2016 survey. We also greatly appreciate Brad's assistance in the wet laboratory. Reviews provided by Brian Breidert and Vic Santucci improved this report. We also thank Tim O'Brien for assisting with the aging of the alewives. All GLSC sampling and handling of fish during research were carried out in accordance with guidelines for the care and use of fishes by the American Fisheries Society (http://fisheries.org/docs/wp/Guidelines-for-Use-of-Fishes.pdf).

#### REFERENCES

Adlerstein, S. A., E. S. Rutherford, D. Clapp, J. A. Clevenger, and J. E. Johnson. 2007. Estimating seasonal movements of Chinook salmon in Lake Huron from efficiency analysis of coded wire tag recoveries in recreational fisheries. N. Am. J. Fish. Manage. 27:792-803.

Argyle, R. L., G. W. Fleischer, G. L. Curtis, J. V. Adams, and R. G. Stickel. 1998. An Integrated Acoustic and Trawl Based Prey Fish Assessment Strategy for Lake Michigan. A report to the Illinois Department of Natural Resources, Indiana Department of Natural Resources, Michigan Department of Natural Resources, and Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. U. S. Geological Survey, Biological Resources Division, Great Lakes Science Center, 1451 Green Road, Ann Arbor, MI USA. Belonger, B. B. T. Eggold, P. Hirethota, S. Hogler, B. Horns, T. Kroeff, T. Lychwick, S. Marcquenski, P. Peters, S. Surendonk, and M. Toneys. 1998. Lake Michigan Management Reports, Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. Lake Michigan Committee Meetings, Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Thunder Bay, Ontario, March 16-17, 1998.

Brown, E. H., Jr., and R. M. Stedman. 1995. Status of forage fish stocks in Lake Michigan, 1994. Pages 81-88 in Minutes of Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Michigan Committee Meeting, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, March 29-30, 1995.

Bunnell, D. B., C. P. Madenjian, and T. E. Croley II. 2006a. Long-term trends of bloater recruitment in Lake Michigan: evidence for the effect of sex ratio. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 63:832-844.

Bunnell, D. B., C. P. Madenjian, and R. M. Claramunt. 2006b. Long-term changes of the Lake Michigan fish community following the reduction of exotic alewife (*Alosa pseudoharengus*). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 63:2434-2446.

Bunnell, D. B., S. R. David, and C. P. Madenjian. 2009. Decline in bloater fecundity in southern Lake Michigan after decline of *Diporeia*. J. Great Lakes Res. 35:45-49.

Bunnell, D. B., J. V. Adams, O. T. Gorman, C. P. Madenjian, S. C. Riley, E. F. Roseman, and J. S. Schaeffer. 2010. Population synchrony of a native fish across three Laurentian Great Lakes: evaluating the effects of dispersal and climate. Oecologia 162:641-651.

Bunnell, D. B., J. G. Mychek-Londer, and C. P. Madenjian. 2014a. Population-level effects of egg predation on a native planktivore in a large freshwater lake. Ecol. Freshw. Fish 23: 604-614.

Bunnell, D. B., R. P. Barbiero, S. A. Ludsin, C. P. Madenjian, G. J. Warren, D. M. Dolan, T.O. Brenden, R. Briland, O.T. Gorman, J. X. He, T. H. Johengen, B. F. Lantry, T. F. Nalepa, S. C. Riley, C. M. Riseng, T. J. Treska, I. Tsehaye, M. G. Walsh, D. M. Warner, and B. C. Weidel. 2014b. Changing ecosystem dynamics in the Laurentian Great Lakes: bottom-up and top-down regulation. BioScience 64:26-39.

Bunnell, D. B., B. M. Davis, M. A. Chriscinske, K. M. Keeler, and J. G. Mychek-Londer. 2015. Diet shifts by planktivorous and benthivorous fishes in northern Lake Michigan in response to ecosystem changes. Journal of Great Lakes Research 41(Suppl. 3): 161-171.

Clapp, D. F., P. J. Schneeberger, D. J. Jude, G. Madison, and C. Pistis. 2001. Monitoring round goby (*Neogobius melanostomus*) population expansion in eastern and northern Lake Michigan. J. Great Lakes Res. 27:335-341.

Eck, G. W., and L. Wells. 1987. Recent changes in Lake Michigan's fish community and their probable causes, with emphasis on the role of the alewife *Alosa pseudoharengus*. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 44(Suppl. 2):53-50.

Eshenroder, R. L. and M. K. Burnham-Curtis. 1999. Species succession and sustainability of the Great Lakes fish community. Pages 145-184 in W. W. Taylor and C. P. Ferreri (ed) Great Lakes Fisheries Policy and Management: A Binational Perspective. Michigan State University Press, East Lansing, MI.

Evans, M. A., G. Fahnenstiel, and D. Scavia. 2011. Incidental oligotrophication of North American Great Lakes. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45: 3297–3303.

Feiner, Z. S., D. B. Bunnell, T. O. Höök, C. P. Madenjian, D. M. Warner, and P. D. Collingsworth. 2015. Non-stationary recruitment dynamics of rainbow smelt: the influence of environmental variables and variation in size structure and length-atmaturation. J. Great Lakes Res. 41:246-258.

Fratt, T. W., D. W. Coble, F. Copes, and R. E. Brusewitz. 1997. Diet of burbot in Green Bay and western Lake Michigan with comparison to other waters. J. Great Lakes Res. 23:1-10.

FWS/GLFC. 2016. Great Lakes Fish Stocking database. U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Region 3 Fisheries Program, and Great Lakes Fishery Commission.

Hatch, R. W., P. M. Haack, and E. H. Brown, Jr. 1981. Estimation of alewife biomass in Lake Michigan, 1967-1978. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 110:575-584.

Hensler, S. R., D. J. Jude, and J. He. 2008. Burbot growth and diet in Lakes Michigan and Huron: an ongoing shift from native species to round gobies. Pages 91-107 in V. L. Paragamian and D. H. Bennett (ed) Burbot: Ecology, Management, and Culture. American Fisheries Society, Symposium 59, Bethesda, MD.

Huo, B., C. P. Madenjian, C. Xie, Y. Zhao, T. P. O'Brien, and S. J. Czesny. 2014. Age and growth of round gobies in Lake Michigan, with preliminary mortality estimation. J. Great Lakes Res. 40:712-720.

Jacobs, G. R., C. P. Madenjian, D. B. Bunnell, and J. D. Holuszko. 2010. Diet of lake trout and burbot in northern Lake Michigan during spring: evidence of ecological interaction. J. Great Lakes Res. 36:312-317.

Jacobs, G. R., C. P. Madenjian, D. B. Bunnell, D. M. Warner, and R. M. Claramunt. 2013. Chinook salmon foraging patterns in a changing Lake Michigan. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 142:362-372.

Jude, D. J., F. J. Tesar, S. F. DeBoe, and T. J. Miller. 1987. Diet and selection of major prey species by Lake Michigan salmonines, 1973-1982. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 116:677-691.

Lake Michigan LTWG. 2016. 2015 Lake Michigan Lake Trout Working Group Report. Report presented at the Lake Michigan Committee Meeting, Milwaukee, WI, March 22, 2016.

Madenjian, C. P., and D. B. Bunnell. 2008. Depth distribution dynamics of the sculpin community in Lake Michigan. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 137:1346-1357.

Madenjian, C. P., T. J. DeSorcie, and R. M. Stedman. 1998. Ontogenic and spatial patterns in diet and growth of lake trout from Lake Michigan. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 127: 236-252.

Madenjian, C. P., G. L. Fahnenstiel, T. H. Johengen, T. F. Nalepa, H. A. Vanderploeg, G. W. Fleischer, P. J. Schneeberger, D. M. Benjamin, E. B. Smith, J. R. Bence, E. S. Rutherford, D. S. Lavis, D. M. Robertson, D. J. Jude, and M. P. Ebener. 2002. Dynamics of the Lake Michigan food web, 1970-2000. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 60:736-753.

Madenjian, C. P., J. D. Holuszko, and T. J. Desorcie. 2003. Growth and condition of alewives in Lake Michigan, 1998-2001. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 132:1104-1116.

Madenjian, C. P., T. O. Höök, E. S. Rutherford, D. M. Mason, T. E. Croley II, E. B. Szalai, and J. R. Bence. 2005a. Recruitment variability of alewives in Lake Michigan. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 134:218-230.

Madenjian, C. P., D. W. Hondorp, T. J. Desorcie, and J. D. Holuszko. 2005b. Sculpin community dynamics in Lake Michigan. J. Great Lakes Res. 31:267-276.

Madenjian, C. P., S. A. Pothoven, J. M. Dettmers, and J. D. Holuszko. 2006. Changes in seasonal energy dynamics of alewife (*Alosa pseudoharengus*) in Lake Michigan after invasion of dreissenid mussels. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 63:891-902.

Madenjian, C. P., R. O'Gorman, D. B. Bunnell, R. L. Argyle, E. F. Roseman, D. M. Warner, J. D. Stockwell, and M. A. Stapanian. 2008. Adverse effects of alewives on Laurentian Great Lakes fish communities. N. Am. J. Fish. Manage. 28:263-282.

Madenjian, C. P., D. B. Bunnell, J. D. Holuszko, T. J. Desorcie, and J. V. Adams. 2010a. *Status and Trends of Prey Fish Populations in Lake Michigan*, 2009. A report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Michigan Committee, Windsor, Ontario, March 23, 2010.

Madenjian, C. P., D. B. Bunnell, and O. T. Gorman. 2010b. Ninespine stickleback abundance in Lake Michigan increases after invasion of dreissenid mussels. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 139:11-20.

Madenjian, C. P., D. B. Bunnell, D. M. Warner, S. A. Pothoven, G. L. Fahnenstiel, T. F. Nalepa, H. A. Vanderploeg, I. Tsehaye, R. M. Claramunt, and R. D. Clark, Jr. 2015. Changes in the Lake Michigan food web following dreissenid mussel invasions: a synthesis. J. Great Lakes Res. 41(Suppl. 3):217-231.

McKenna, P. R. 2014. Use of stomach contents, fatty acids, and stable isotopes to detect spatial variability in lake trout diets throughout the Laurentian Great Lakes. M.S. Thesis, University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign, Illinois.

Nalepa, T. F., D. L. Fanslow, G. A. Lang, K. Mabrey, and M. Rowe. 2014. Lake-wide benthic surveys in Lake Michigan in 1994-1995, 2005, and 2010: abundances of the amphipod *Diporeia* spp. and abundances and biomass of the mussels *Dreissena* polymorpha and *Dreissena rostriformes bugensis*. NOAA Technical Memorandum GLERL-164.

Pothoven, S. A., G. L. Fahnenstiel, H. A. Vanderploeg. 2010. Temporal trends in *Mysis relicta* abundance, production, and lifehistory characteristics in southeastern Lake Michigan. J. Great Lakes Res. 36(Suppl. 3):60-64. Pothoven, S. A., D. W. Hondorp, T. F. Nalepa. 2011. Declines in deepwater sculpin *Myoxocephalus thompsonii* energy density associated with the disappearance of *Diporeia* spp. in lakes Huron and Michigan. Ecol. Freshw. Fish 20: 14-22.

Pothoven, S. A., D. B. Bunnell, C. P. Madenjian, O. T. Gorman, E. F. Roseman. 2012. Energy density of bloaters in the upper Great Lakes. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 141: 772-780.

Potter, R. L. and G. W. Fleischer. 1992. Reappearance of spoonhead sculpins (*Cottus ricei*) in Lake Michigan. J. Great Lakes Res. 18:755-758.

Smith, S. H. 1970. Species interactions of the alewife in the Great Lakes. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 99:754-765.

Stedman, R. M., and Bowen, C. A. 1985. Introduction and spread of the threespine stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*) in lakes Huron and Michigan. J. Great Lakes Res. 11:508-511.

Stewart, D. J., and M. Ibarra. 1991. Predation and production by salmonine fishes in Lake Michigan, 1978-88. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 48:909-922.

Stewart, D. J., D. Weininger, D. V. Rottiers, and T. A. Edsall. 1983. An energetics model for lake trout, *Salvelinus namaycush*: application to the Lake Michigan population. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 40:681-698.

Truemper, H. A., T. E. Lauer, T. S. McComish, and R. A. Edgell. 2006. Response of yellow perch diet to a changing forage base in southern Lake Michigan, 1984-2002. J. Great Lakes Res. 32:806-816.

Tsehaye, I., M. L. Jones, J. R. Bence, T. O. Brenden, C. P. Madenjian, and D. M. Warner. 2014. A multispecies statistical agestructured model to assess predator-prey balance: application to an intensively managed Lake Michigan pelagic fish community. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 71:627-644.

Van Oosten, J., and H. J. Deason. 1938. The food of the lake trout (*Cristivomer namaycush*) and of the lawyer (*Lota maculosa*) of Lake Michigan. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 67:155-177.

Warner, D. M., C. S. Kiley, R. M. Claramunt, and D. F. Clapp. 2008. The influence of alewife year-class strength on prey selection and abundance of age-1 Chinook salmon in Lake Michigan. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 137:1683-1700.

Warner, D. M., R. M. Claramunt, D. Hanson, T. Desorcie, T. P. O'Brien, P. Armenio, and L. Ogilvie. 2016. *Status of Pelagic Prey Fishes in Lake Michigan, 2016.* A report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Michigan Committee, Ypsilanti, MI, March 20, 2017.

Wells, L. 1977. Changes in yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*) populations of Lake Michigan, 1954-75. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 34:1821-1829.

Wells, L., and A. L. McLain. 1973. Lake Michigan: man's effects on native fish stocks and other biota. Great Lakes Fishery Commission. Technical Report 20. 56 p.

Williams, M. C. 2012. Spatial, temporal, and cohort-related patterns in the contribution of wild Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) to total Chinook harvest in Lake Michigan. M.S. Thesis. Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan.

Appendix 1. Mean numeric and biomass density, as well as lake-wide biomass (defined as biomass available to the bottom trawls for the region of the main basin between the 5-m and 114-m depth contours) estimates for various fishes and dreissenid mussels in Lake Michigan during 2016. Estimates are based on the bottom trawl survey. Standard error enclosed in parentheses. NA denotes that estimate is not available.

Taxon	Numeric density	Biomass density	Lake-wide
	(fish per ha)	(kg per ha)	biomass (kt)
age-0 alewife	22.05	0.067	0.238
	(20.79)	(0.062)	(0.218)
adult alewife	2.50	0.031	0.108
	(1.42)	(0.014)	(0.048)
age-0 bloater	160.29	0.928	3.266
	(85.33)	(0.488)	(1.719)
adult bloater	32.80	0.736	2.590
	(18.38)	(0.364)	(1.283)
age-0 rainbow smelt	66.23	0.044	0.156
	(42.62)	(0.030)	(0.106)
adult rainbow smelt	3.68	0.036	0.125
	(1.81)	(0.016)	(0.058)
deepwater sculpin	146.02	0.851	2.998
	(24.07)	(0.160)	(0.564)
slimy sculpin	42.23	0.226	0.796
	(7.69)	(0.052)	(0.184)
ninespine stickleback	0.67	0.0008	0.003
	(0.39)	(0.0004)	(0.001)
burbot	0.06	0.059	0.209
	(0.03)	(0.042)	(0.148)
age-0 yellow perch	2.39	0.011	0.037
	(2.04)	(0.009)	(0.033)
round goby	47.96	0.321	1.129
	(23.38)	(0.149)	(0.524)
dreissenid mussels	NA	60.935 (16.473)	214.591 (58.013)

# Status and Trends of the Lake Huron Offshore Demersal Fish Community, 1976-2016<sup>1,2</sup>

Stephen C. Riley, Edward F. Roseman, Darryl W. Hondorp, Margret A. Chriscinske, Emily Galassini and McKenzie Smith

> U. S. Geological Survey Great Lakes Science Center 1451 Green Rd. Ann Arbor, MI 48105

#### Abstract

The USGS Great Lakes Science Center has conducted trawl surveys to assess annual changes in the offshore demersal fish community of Lake Huron since 1973. Sample sites include five ports in U.S. waters with more recent sampling near Goderich, Ontario. The 2016 fall bottom trawl survey was carried out between 19 and 31 October at all ports. The 2016 main basin prey fish biomass estimate for Lake Huron was 26.7 kilotonnes, an increase of about 37 percent from 2015. This estimate is the fourth-lowest in the time series, and is approximately 7 percent of the maximum estimate observed in 1987. Adult alewife abundance was the second-lowest in the time series, but YOY alewife biomass was the highest estimated since 2003, before the alewife crash, although catches varied substantially among ports. The estimated biomass of yearling-and-older rainbow smelt increased from that observed in 2015, but still remained very low compared to historical estimates. YOY rainbow smelt abundance and biomass decreased from that observed in 2015. Estimated adult bloater biomass was slightly less than the 2015 estimate, while the abundance and biomass estimates for YOY bloater were the second-lowest of the time series, and more than an order of magnitude lower than any recent estimate. Biomass estimates for deepwater and slimy sculpins, trout-perch, and ninespine stickleback increased over 2015, but all remained low compared to historic estimates. The 2016 biomass estimate for round goby increased from 2015 but remained at only 7 percent of the maximum observed in 2003.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Prepared for the Great Lakes Fishery Commission Lake Huron Committee Meeting, Ypsilanti, MI, March 2017. <sup>2</sup>The data associated with this report have not received final approval by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) and are currently under review. The Great Lakes Science Center is committed to complying with the Office of Management and Budget data release requirements and providing the public with high quality scientific data. We plan to make all USGS research vessel data collected between 1958 and 2016 publicly available from the GLSC website later in 2017. The anticipated citation will be <u>http://doi.org/10.5066/F75M63X0</u>. Please direct any immediate questions to our Information Technology Specialist, Scott Nelson, at <u>snelson@usgs.gov</u>.

#### Introduction

Lake Huron supports valuable recreational and commercial fisheries that may be at risk due to recent widespread ecological changes in the lake (Bence and Mohr 2008; Riley et al. 2013). Recent major ecosystem changes in Lake Huron include the invasion of dreissenid mussels and drastic declines in the abundance of the native amphipod *Diporeia* spp. (McNickle et al. 2006; Nalepa et al. 2003, 2005, 2007), decreases in growth and recruitment of lake whitefish *Coregonus clupeaformis* and Chinook salmon *Oncorhynchus tshawytscha* catches (Mohr and Ebener 2005; Bence and Mohr 2008; Gobin et al. 2015), significant changes in the abundance and species composition of the zooplankton community (Barbiero et al. 2009), the invasion of the round goby *Neogobius melanostomus*, and the changes in the distribution and abundance of fish species that make up the offshore demersal fish community (Riley et al. 2008; Riley and Adams 2010).

The USGS Great Lakes Science Center (GLSC) began annual bottom trawl surveys on Lake Huron in 1973, and the first full survey with ports covering the Michigan waters of the lake was conducted in 1976. These surveys are used to examine relative abundance, size and age structure, and species composition of the offshore demersal fish community. The purpose of this report is to present estimates of the relative abundance and biomass of offshore demersal fish species that are important as prey to common predators in the lake (i.e., lake trout *Salvelinus namaycush* and Chinook salmon).

#### Methods

The GLSC has monitored fish abundance annually from 1973-2016 using 12-m headrope (1973-1991) and 21-m headrope (1992-2016) bottom trawls at fixed transects at up to eleven depths (9, 18, 27, 36, 46, 55, 64, 73, 82, 92, and 110 m) at five ports (Detour, Hammond Bay, Alpena, Tawas [Au Sable Point], and Harbor Beach) in the Michigan waters of Lake Huron (Fig. 1). Both trawls used a 4.76 mm square mesh cod end. The same fixed transects were sampled each year from the USGS R/V *Kaho* during 1973-1977, the USGS R/V *Grayling* during 1978-2014, and the USGS R/V *Arcticus* in 2015-2016; some transects were fished from the USGS R/V *Cisco* in 1990. Sampling has been conducted at Goderich (Ontario) since 1998 using the same trawling protocols as U.S. ports; this port was sampled in 2016.

Single 10-min trawl tows were conducted during daylight at each transect each year. Tow duration was occasionally less than 10 min due to large catches or obstacles in the tow path; catches for these tows were corrected to be equivalent to 10-min tows (see formula below). Trawl catches were sorted by species and each species was counted and weighed in aggregate. Large catches (> ca. 20 kg) were subsampled; a random sample was sorted, counted, and weighed, and the remainder of the catch was weighed for extrapolation of the sample.

We applied correction factors to standardize trawl data among depths, as the actual time on bottom for each trawl increased with depth (Fabrizio et al. 1997). Relative abundance was standardized to CPE (catch per 10 min on bottom) as

$$C_t = \frac{10N}{K_t T},$$

where  $C_t$  is the catch per 10 min (CPE) on bottom for trawl type t, N is the catch, T is tow time, and  $K_t$  is a correction factor that varies with fishing depth (D in m) and trawl type such that  $K_{12} = 0.00400D +$ 0.8861 for the 12-m trawl and  $K_{21} = 0.00385D + 0.9149$  for the 21-m trawl. Catches were expressed in terms of density and biomass (number/ha and kg/ha) by dividing the CPE by the area swept by the trawl. The area swept was estimated as the product of the distance towed (speed multiplied by tow time) and the trawl width. Trawl width estimates were depth-specific and were based on trawl mensuration data collected from the R/V *Grayling* in 1991, 1998, and 2005 (USGS unpublished data). Catches were weighted by the area of the main basin of Lake Huron that occurred in each depth range. Lake-wide relative biomass was estimated as the sum of the biomass of the common species sampled in the survey, and is not a true lake-wide estimate, as sampling is conducted only to 110 m and most Ontario waters are not sampled.

We partitioned catches of alewife *Alosa pseudoharengus*, rainbow smelt *Osmerus mordax*, and bloater *Coregonus hoyi* into size-based age classes for analysis. To do this, year-specific length cutoffs were predetermined from length-frequency data and then used to apportion the catches into age-0 fish (young-of-the-year, or YOY) and those age-1 or older (yearling and older, or YAO).

To make density estimates from the 12 m headrope (1973-1991) and 21 m headrope (1992-2016) trawls comparable, we multiplied density estimates from the 12-m trawl (1976-1991) by species-specific fishing power corrections (FPCs) developed from a comparative trawl experiment (Adams et al. 2009). We applied FPCs greater than 1.0 to the density and biomass of alewife, rainbow smelt (YAO only), bloater, and FPCs less than 1.0 to the density and biomass of deepwater sculpin *Myoxocephalus thompsonii*. Catches of trout-perch *Percopsis omiscomaycus* were not significantly different between the two trawls. Insufficient data were available to estimate FPCs for ninespine stickleback *Pungitius pungitius* and YOY rainbow smelt; density estimates were not corrected for these species.

Trawl surveys on Lake Huron are typically conducted between 3 October and 15 November. In 1992 and 1993, however, trawl surveys occurred in early- to mid-September, and these data were not used in this report because the distribution of many offshore species in the Great Lakes is highly seasonally variable (Dryer 1966; Wells 1968) and data collected in September may not be comparable to the rest of the time series. In 1998, sampling was conducted in a non-standard manner, and these data were also excluded. The fall survey was not conducted in 2000 and was not completed in 2008. We did not use data prior to 1976 because all ports and depths in Lake Huron were not consistently sampled until 1976.

#### Results

The 2016 Lake Huron fall bottom trawl survey was carried out during 19 - 31 October. Forty-six trawl tows were completed and all standard ports were sampled. Three standard transects (19-37 m transects at Detour) were not sampled this year due to the presence of commercial fishing gear in the trawl path. Fifteen fish species were captured in the 2016 survey: rainbow smelt, alewife, bloater, slimy sculpin *Cottus cognatus*, deepwater sculpin, trout-perch, spottail shiner *Notropis hudsonius*, emerald shiner *Notropis atherinoides*, lake whitefish, ninespine stickleback, lake trout, round goby, yellow perch *Perca flavescens*, white perch *Morone americana*, and white bass *Morone chrysops*.

Alewife abundance in Lake Huron remained relatively low in 2016. The abundance and biomass estimates for yearling and older (YAO) alewife were the second-lowest in the history of the survey (Fig. 2). Age-0 alewife density and biomass during 2016 were the highest estimated since 2003, before the alewife crash, but remained low compared to historic estimates (Fig. 2). YOY alewife catches varied spatially, with the majority of the fish captured at Hammond Bay and Alpena. YAO rainbow smelt abundance and biomass estimates in 2016 increased from 2015 but remained low relative to historical estimates (Fig. 3). YOY rainbow smelt abundance and biomass estimates were among the lowest observed in the time series. YAO bloater abundance and biomass estimates decreased in 2016, and YOY bloater abundance and biomass were the second lowest estimates in the time series (Fig. 4).

Abundance and biomass estimates for deepwater sculpins in 2016 increased over those observed in 2015 and were higher than any observed since 2012 (Fig. 5). Slimy sculpin were not captured by the

survey in 2014 and 2015, and 2016 abundance and biomass estimates remained relatively low compared to historic estimates (Fig. 5). The 2016 abundance and biomass estimates for ninespine stickleback and trout-perch increased slightly from previous years (Fig. 6). Round goby abundance and biomass estimates for 2016 decreased from 2015 levels and remained among the lowest estimates in the time series (Fig. 7).

The total main basin prey biomass estimate (5 - 114 m) in 2016 was 26.7 kilotonnes, an increase of about 37percent from the 2015 estimate (Fig. 8). This estimate is the fourth-lowest observed in the time series, similar to the extreme low estimates that occurred during 2009-2010, and represents approximately 7 percent of the maximum lake-wide biomass estimate observed in 1987. Approximately 42 percent of the 2016 biomass estimate was composed of YAO bloater, and 40 percent of the biomass estimate was made up of YOY alewife. This is the first time that either age class of alewife has made a substantive (>10%) contribution to lake-wide preyfish biomass since 2006.

#### Discussion

The abundance of prey fish in Lake Huron has remained at low levels since the collapse of the offshore demersal fish community in 2004 (Riley et al. 2008), although survey catches in 2012 suggested that several species were beginning to increase in abundance. The estimated lake-wide biomass of prey fish in 2012 was the highest observed since 2001, while the 2013 estimate was approximately half as high as 2012. and the 2014 and 2015 estimates were even lower. The estimated biomass of YAO rainbow smelt and alewife in 2016 were higher than in 2015 but remained among the lowest observed in the history of the survey. The collapse of alewife in the lake may have been precipitated by an extremely cold winter (Dunlop and Riley 2013), but was likely ultimately caused by bottom-up controls due to reduced production at all trophic levels, which may have been related to the invasion of dreissenid mussels, and also by predators such as lake trout and Chinook salmon (Kao et al. 2016). The persistence of low abundance estimates for exotic alewife and rainbow smelt is consistent with fish community objectives for Lake Huron (DesJardine et al. 1995), but does not bode well for Chinook salmon populations in the lake (Roseman and Riley 2009), which rely heavily on these species as prey (Roseman et al. 2014).

YAO bloater showed a consistent positive trend in biomass for 2009-2012, but the 2013 estimate was much reduced from 2012, and while 2014 showed a modest increase over the 2013 levels, biomass then declined again in 2015 and 2016. The abundance of this native species is currently at a moderate level, higher than the extreme low estimates observed in 2001-2006. Bloater biomass, however, is currently at low levels comparable to estimates observed during 2001-2006. Decreases in body condition of bloater may be associated with declines in abundance of lipid-rich prey, including *Diporeia* spp., in the lake (Prichard et al. 2016).

Deepwater and slimy sculpins, ninespine sticklebacks, and trout-perch are typically minor components of lake trout diets in the Great Lakes (Diana 1990; Roseman et al. 2014), but were probably more important before the invasion of the lakes by alewife, rainbow smelt and round goby (Van Oosten and Deason 1938). In 2016, biomass estimates for all of these species were greater than in recent years, but remain relatively low compared to historical estimates.

Round goby have become a significant part of lake trout diets in some areas of the Great Lakes (Dietrich et al. 2006), including Lake Huron (Roseman et al. 2014). Round goby were first captured in the Lake Huron trawl survey in 1997, reached a peak in abundance in 2003, and declined in abundance until increasing again in 2011-2012. Our results suggest that they are currently at a moderate to low level of abundance in the offshore waters of Lake Huron, although sharp fluctuations in the time series indicate that abundance estimates for this species may be particularly sensitive to various environmental factors.

Moreover, round gobies primarily inhabit nearshore areas and tend to be most common on rocky substrates, and the Lake Huron bottom trawl survey may not provide a robust estimate of their relative abundance or biomass in the lake.

The estimated lake-wide biomass of common offshore prey species in Lake Huron increased from 2009 - 2012, but then decreased through 2015. The 2016 estimate represents an increase over 2015, but lake-wide biomass is still currently low and similar to the lowest estimates that occurred in 2006-2009. The peak estimated biomass of prey fish in Lake Huron occurred in the late 1980s, and has declined steadily since then; a similar decline has occurred in Lake Michigan and Lake Ontario (Bunnell et al. 2015; Gorman and Weidel 2016). It is possible that these declines are associated with the invasion of the lakes by several exotic species, including the spiny water flea (*Bythotrephes*), zebra mussels, quagga mussels, and round gobies, all of which have been introduced since the mid-1980s (Bunnell et al. 2014; Kao et al. 2016). However, similar declines in some species (particularly coregonines) have occurred in Lake Superior (Vinson et al. 2016), which has been less impacted by invasive species.

Three trawl transects (19-37 m at Detour) were not sampled in 2016 due to the presence of commercial fishing gear within the trawl path. Although the GLSC has communicated with commercial fishermen regarding the location of our transects, it is not uncommon for fishing gear to prevent sampling of 1-3 transects per year. Retrospective analysis suggests that missing these transects has a minimal effect on our estimates of relative abundance and biomass (GLSC unpublished data). In future, the GLSC will attempt to locate alternative safe trawl transects near to those that frequently support commercial fishing gear.

Fish abundance estimates reported here are likely to be negatively biased, primarily due to variability in the catchability of fish by the trawl, which may reflect the vulnerability of fish to the gear and/or the distribution of fish off the bottom. Many individuals of some demersal species may be pelagic at certain times and not available to our trawls, particularly young-of-the-year alewife, rainbow smelt, and bloater. Results reported here should therefore not be interpreted as absolute abundance estimates for any species (see Riley and Dunlop 2016).

Some of the fluctuations in the estimated abundance of individual species may be a result of changes in catchability caused by altered fish distributions. For example, catchability of a given species might differ from year to year due to changes in temperature or food distribution, and observed changes in abundance might result from fish becoming less vulnerable to bottom trawls in recent years. Time varying catchability is common in survey gear (Wilberg et al. 2010), and understanding how bottom-trawl catchability changes through time may provide great insights into our estimates of prey fish biomass. The invasion of Lake Huron by dreissenid mussels may also have affected the efficiency of the trawl, as has been observed in Lake Ontario (O'Gorman et al. 2005). Data reported here were collected at a restricted range of depths in areas that were free of obstructions and were characterized by sandy or gravel substrates, and it is therefore possible that USGS trawl data do not fully characterize the offshore demersal fish community. There are no other published long-term data on offshore demersal fish abundance in Lake Huron that would allow us to investigate the representativeness of the trawl data. Despite the foregoing constraints, however, these data are currently the best available to assess trends in the Lake Huron offshore demersal fish community.

# Acknowledgments

We thank Captain Shawn Parsons, MMR Erin Grivicich, and mate Deidre Jordan for their seamanship and dedication to completing the survey. S. Nelson, L. Zhang, and D. Benes provided database and computer support. All GLSC sampling and handling of fish during research are carried out in accordance with guidelines for the care and use of fishes by the American Fisheries Society.

# **Literature Cited**

- Adams, J. V., S. C. Riley, and S. A. Adlerstein. 2009. Development of fishing power corrections for 12m Yankee and 21-m wing trawls used in the USGS Lake Huron fall bottom trawl survey. Great Lakes Fish. Comm. Tech. Rep. 68.
- Barbiero, R. P., M. Balcer, D. C. Rockwell, and M. L. Tuchman. 2009. Recent shifts in the crustacean zooplankton community of Lake Huron. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 66: 816-828.
- Bence, J. R., and Mohr L. C. [eds.]. 2008. The state of Lake Huron in 2004. Great Lakes Fish. Comm. Spec. Pub. 08-01.
- Bunnell, D. B., R. P. Barbiero, S. A. Ludsin, C. P. Madenjian, G. J. Warren, D. M. Dolan, T. O. Brenden, R. Briland, O. T. Gorman, J. X. He, T. H. Johengen, B. F. Lantry, T. F. Nalepa, S. C. Riley, C. M. Riseng, T. J. Treska, I. Tsehaye, D. M. Warner, M. G. Walsh, and B. C. Weidel. 2014. Evaluating bottom-up and top-down regulation in Great Lakes food webs. Bioscience 64: 26-39.
- Bunnell, D. B., C. P. Madenjian, T. J. Desorcie, M. J. Kostich, W. Woelmer, and J. V. Adams. 2015. Status and trends of prey fish populations in Lake Michigan, 2014. USGS Annual Report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Michigan Committee Meeting, Ypsilanti, MI, March 2015.
- DesJardine, R. L., T. K. Gorenflo, R. N. Payne, and J. D. Schrouder. 1995. Fish-community objectives for Lake Huron. Great Lakes Fish. Comm. Spec. Pub. 95-1. 38 pages.
- Diana, J. S. 1990. Food habits of angler-caught salmonines in western Lake Huron. J. Great Lakes Res. 16:271–278.
- Dietrich, J. P., B. J. Morrison, and J. A. Hoyle. 2006. Alternative ecological pathways in the eastern Lake Ontario food web: round goby in the diet of lake trout. J. Great Lakes Res. 32: 395-400.
- Dryer, W. R. 1966. Bathymetric distribution of fish in the Apostle Islands Region, Lake Superior. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 95: 248-259.
- Dunlop, E. S., and S. C. Riley. 2013. The contribution of cold winter temperatures to the 2003 alewife population collapse in Lake Huron. J. Great Lakes Res. 39: 682-689.
- Fabrizio, M. C., J. V. Adams, and G. L. Curtis. 1997. Assessing prey fish populations in Lake Michigan: comparison of simultaneous acoustic-midwater trawling with bottom trawling. Fish. Res. 33: 37-54.
- Gobin, J., N. P. Lester, A. Cottril, M. G. Fox, and E. S. Dunlop. 2015. Trends in growth and recruitment of Lake Huron lake whitefish during a period of ecosystem change, 1985 to 2012. J. Great Lakes Res. 41: 405–414.
- Gorman, O. T., and B. C. Weidel. 2016. Great Lakes Prey Fish Populations: A Cross-Basin Overview of Status and Trends Based on Bottom Trawl Surveys, 1978-2015. USGS Annual Report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Michigan Committee Meeting, Milwaukee, WI, March 2016.
- Kao, Y., S. A. Adlerstein, and E. S. Rutherford. 2016. Assessment of top-down and bottom-up controls on the collapse of alewives (*Alosa pseudoharengus*) in Lake Huron. Ecosystems DOI: 10.1007/s10021-016-9969-y
- McNickle, G. G., M. D. Rennie, and W. G. Sprules. 2006. Changes in benthic invertebrate communities of South Bay, Lake Huron following invasion by zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*), and potential effects on lake whitefish (*Coregonus clupeaformis*) diet and growth. J. Great Lakes Res. 32: 180–193.
- Mohr, L. C., and M. P. Ebener. 2005. Status of lake whitefish (*Coregonus clupeaformis*) in Lake Huron. *In* Proceedings of a workshop on the dynamics of lake whitefish (*Coregonus clupeaformis*) and the amphipod *Diporeia* spp. in the Great Lakes. Edited by L. C. Mohr and T. F. Nalepa. Great Lakes Fish. Comm. Tech. Rep. 66, pp. 105-125.

- Nalepa, T. F., D. L. Fanslow, M. B. Lansing, and G. A. Lang. 2003. Trends in the benthic macroinvertebrate community of Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron, 1987 to 1996: Responses to phosphorus abatement and the zebra mussel, *Dreissena polymorpha*. J. Great Lakes Res. 29: 14– 33.
- Nalepa, T. F., D. L. Fanslow, and G. Messick. 2005. Characteristics and potential causes of declining *Diporeia* spp. populations in southern Lake Michigan and Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron. *In* Proceedings of a workshop on the dynamics of lake whitefish (*Coregonus clupeaformis*) and the amphipod *Diporeia* spp. in the Great lakes. Edited by L. C. Mohr and T. F. Nalepa. Great Lakes Fish. Comm. Tech. Rep. 66, pp. 157-188.
- Nalepa, T. F., D. L. Fanslow, S. A. Pothoven, A. J. Foley III, and G. A. Lang. 2007. Long-term trends in benthic macroinvertebrate populations in Lake Huron over the past four decades. J. Great Lakes Res. 33: 421-436.
- O'Gorman, R., R. W. Owens, S. E. Prindle, J. V. Adams, and T. Schaner. 2005. Status of major prey fish stocks in the U.S. waters of Lake Ontario, 2004. Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Ontario Committee Meeting, Niagara Falls, Ontario, 29-30 March 2005.
- Prichard, C. G., E. F. Roseman, K. M. Keeler, T. P. O'Brien, and S. C. Riley. 2016. Large-scale changes in bloater *Coregonus hoyi* growth and condition in Lake Huron. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 145:1241–1251.
- Riley, S. C., E. F. Roseman, S. J. Nichols, T. P. O'Brien, C. S. Kiley, and J. S. Schaeffer. 2008. Deepwater demersal fish community collapse in Lake Huron. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 137: 1879-1890.
- Riley, S. C., and J. V. Adams. 2010. Long-term trends in habitat use of offshore demersal fishes in western Lake Huron suggest large-scale ecosystem change. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 139: 1322-1334.
- Riley, S. C., L. Mohr, and M. P. Ebener. 2013. Lake Huron in 2010 and beyond. *In* The state of Lake Huron in 2010. Edited by S. C. Riley. Great Lakes Fish. Comm. Spec. Pub 13-01.
- Riley, S. C., and E. S. Dunlop. 2016. Misapplied survey data and model uncertainty result in incorrect conclusions about the role of predation on alewife population dynamics in Lake Huron: a comment on He et al. (2015). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 73: 860-864.
- Roseman, E. F., and S. C. Riley. 2009. Biomass of deepwater demersal forage fishes in Lake Huron, 1994-2007: implications for offshore predators. Aquat. Ecosyst. Health Manage. 12: 29-36.
- Roseman, E. F., J. S. Schaeffer, E. Bright, and D. G. Fielder. 2014. Angler-caught piscivore diets reflect fish community changes in Lake Huron. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 143: 1419-1433.
- Van Oosten, J., and H. J. Deason. 1938. The food of the lake trout (*Cristovomer namaycush*) and of the lawyer (*Lota maculosa*) of Lake Michigan. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 67: 155-177.
- Vinson, M. R., L. M. Evrard, O. T. Gorman, and D. L. Yule. 2016. Status and trends in the Lake Superior fish community, 2015. USGS Annual Report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Superior Committee Meeting, Milwaukee, WI, March 2016.
- Wells, L. 1968. Seasonal depth distribution of fish in southeastern Lake Michigan. U. S. Fish and Wildlife Ser. Fish. Bull. 67: 1-15.
- Wilberg, M. J., J. T. Thorson, B. C. Linton, and J. Berkson. 2010. Incorporating time-varying catchability into population dynamic stock assessment models. Rev. Fish. Sci. 18: 7–24.

# Figures



Figure 1. Bottom trawl sampling locations in Lake Huron.



Figure 2. Density of young-of-the-year (YOY: left panels) and adult (YAO: right panels) alewives as number (top panels) and biomass (bottom panels) of fish per hectare in Lake Huron, 1976-2016. 1976-1991 estimates were corrected using fishing power corrections developed by Adams et al. (2009). Error bars are 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 3. Density of young-of-the-year (YOY: left panels) and adult (YAO: right panels) rainbow smelt as number (top panels) and biomass (bottom panels) of fish per hectare in Lake Huron, 1976-2016. 1976-1991 estimates for YAO were corrected using fishing power corrections developed by Adams et al. (2009); YOY data are uncorrected. Error bars are 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 4. Density of young-of-the-year (YOY: left panels) and adult (YAO: right panels) bloater as number (top panels) and biomass (bottom panels) of fish per hectare in Lake Huron, 1976-2016. 1976-1991 estimates were corrected using fishing power corrections developed by Adams et al. (2009). Error bars are 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 5. Density of slimy (left panels) and deepwater (right panels) sculpins as number (top panels) and biomass (bottom panels) of fish per hectare in Lake Huron, 1976-2016. 1976-1991 estimates were corrected using fishing power corrections developed by Adams et al. (2009). Error bars are 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 6. Density of ninespine stickleback (left panels) and trout-perch (right panels) as number (top panels) and biomass (bottom panels) of fish per hectare in Lake Huron, 1976-2016. Error bars are 95% confidence intervals.





Figure 7. Density of round goby as number (top panel) and biomass (bottom panel) of fish per hectare in Lake Huron, 1976-2016.



Figure 8. Offshore demersal fish community biomass in the main basin of Lake Huron, 1976-2016. Valid data were not collected in 1992, 1993, 1998, 2000, and 2008; biomass estimates for those years represent interpolated values.

#### Status of Pelagic Prey Fishes in Lake Michigan, 2016<sup>1</sup>

David M. Warner<sup>2</sup>, Randall M. Claramunt<sup>3</sup>, Dale Hanson<sup>4</sup>, Timothy Desorcie<sup>2</sup>, and Timothy P. O'Brien<sup>2</sup>, Patty Armenio<sup>2</sup>, Lynn Ogilvie<sup>2</sup>, and Kevin Donner<sup>5</sup>

<sup>2</sup>U.S. Geological Survey Great Lakes Science Center 1451 Green Road Ann Arbor, Michigan 48105

<sup>3</sup>Michigan Department of Natural Resources Charlevoix Fisheries Research Station 96 Grant Street Charlevoix, MI 49720

<sup>4</sup>U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Green Bay Fish & Wildlife Conservation Office 2661 Scott Tower Drive New Franken, Wisconsin 54229

<sup>5</sup>Little Traverse Bay Bands of Odawa Indians 7500 Odawa Circle Harbor Springs, MI 49740

#### ABSTRACT

Acoustic surveys were conducted in late summer/early fall during the years 1992-1996 and 2001-2016 to estimate pelagic prey fish biomass in Lake Michigan. Midwater trawling during the surveys as well as target strength provided a measure of species and size composition of the fish community for use in scaling acoustic data and providing species-specific abundance estimates. The 2016 survey consisted of 34 acoustic transects [655 km total (407 miles)] and 68 midwater trawl tows. Mean prey fish biomass was 5.5 kg/ha [26.7 kilotonnes (kt = 1,000 metric tons)], which was 31% higher than in 2015 and 23% of the long-term (21 years) mean. The numeric density of the 2016 alewife year-class was 44% of the time series average and 1.7 times the 2015 density. This year-class contributed 19% of total alewife biomass (3.9 kg/ha). Survival estimates for age-1 alewife showed above-average survival for the 2013 and 2016 alewife year classes. In 2016, alewife comprised 72% of total prey fish biomass, while rainbow smelt and bloater were both 14% of total biomass. Rainbow smelt biomass in 2016 (0.8 kg/ha) was 21% of the long-term mean and increased for the first time since 2008. Bloater biomass in 2016 was 0.8 kg/ha and 10% of the long-term mean. Mean density of small bloater in 2015 (307 fish/ha) was slightly lower than peak values observed in 2008-2009 but was twice the time series average (150 fish/ha). Although prev fish biomass remains low relative to the 1990s, it did increase in 2016. This increase, along with higherthan-average survival of two recent alewife year classes, are likely a response to reduced predation pressure stemming from a reduction in the abundance of Chinook salmon. Though it is possible these year classes may have had higher survival owing to abundance or timing of zooplankton prey, slow growth of larval alewife in 2015 suggests this was not the case in 2015.

<sup>1</sup>Presented at:

Great Lakes Fishery Commission Lake Michigan Committee Meeting Ypsilanti, MI, March 20, 2017

#### INTRODUCTION

Annual evaluation of long-term data on prey fish dynamics is critical in light of changes to the Lake Michigan food web during the last 40 years (Madenjian et al. 2002) and continued restructuring due to exotic species, pollution, fishing, and fish stocking. Alewives are the primary prey in Lake Michigan and of especial importance to introduced salmonines in the Great Lakes (Elliott 1993; Rybicki and Clapp 1996; Warner et al. 2008; Jacobs et al. 2013), however they are also predators of larval fish and are tied to thiamine deficiencies that contribute to recruitment bottlenecks in native fishes including lake trout (Salvelinus namaycush). As such, alewives constitute an important component of the food-web. The traditional Great Lakes Science Center (GLSC) prey fish monitoring method (bottom trawl) is inadequate for fish located off bottom (Fabrizio et al. 1997). In particular, bottom trawls provide particularly biased estimates for age-0 alewives (Alosa pseudoharengus) based on catchability estimates from stock assessment modeling (Tsehaye et al. 2014). Much of the alewife biomass will not be recruited to bottom trawls until age-3 (Madenjian et al. 2005), but significant predation by salmonines may occur on alewives < age-2 (Warner et al. 2008). Alewife abundance patterns are largely driven by the age-classes that are not effectively sampled by bottom trawls; total alewife density is highly correlated with the density of alewife  $\leq$  age-2 (Warner et al. 2008). Because of the ability of acoustic equipment to count organisms far above bottom, this type of sampling is ideal for highly pelagic fish like age-0 alewives, rainbow smelt (Osmerus mordax), and bloater (Coregonus hoyi) and is a valuable complement to bottom trawl sampling. Further, these two long-term surveys have enabled the development of a stock assessment model for alewife (Tsehaye et al. 2014).

# METHODS

#### Sampling Design

The initial Lake Michigan survey adopted by the Lake Michigan Technical Committee (Fleischer et al. 2001) was a stratified quasi-random design with three strata (north, south-central, and west) and unequal effort allocated among strata. The location of strata and number of transects within each stratum was determined from a study of geographic distribution of species and the variability of fish abundance within strata (Adams et al. 2006). A modified design was developed in 2004 (Warner et al. 2005), which included two additional strata (north and south offshore). The initial three strata were retained, but their size was modified based on data collected in 2003 as well as NOAA Coast Watch Great Lakes node maps of sea surface temperature from 2001-2003. In 2007-2016, the number of transects in each stratum was optimized based on stratum area and standard deviation of biomass using methods in Adams et al. (2006). The collection and analytical approach for 2016 acoustic and midwater trawl data was similar to that in 2004-2013. For a detailed description of the methods see Warner et al. (2009) and Warner et al. (2014). In short, each survey vessel samples along transects using scientific echosounders for estimation of total fish density. While sampling those transects, we use midwater trawls to collect fish to determine species, size, and age (in the case of alewife) composition. The numeric density of fish [fish per hectare (ha)] is split among the species captured in the trawls except in water >40 m below the surface, where species are determined using target strength

# RESULTS

The 2016 acoustic survey of Lake Michigan was conducted by the United States Geological Survey (USGS), the United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), the Michigan Department of Natural Resources (MDNR), and the Little Traverse Bay Band of Odawa Indians (LTTBOI). The main basin sampling consisted of 34 transects for a total transect distance of 655 km, which was similar to the sampling distance in Lake Huron in 2016 (O'Brien et al. 2017). The bottom range over which acoustic data were collected was 4-234 m (13-767 ft). Survey locations are shown in Figure 1.

<u>Alewife</u> – The numeric density of the 2016 alewife year-class in 2016 was more than 1.7 times higher than the density age-0 alewife in 2015. At 468 fish/ha, the 2016 estimate was 44% of the long-term mean. While well below average, the numeric density of age-0 alewife in 2016 was the highest



Figure 1. Location of acoustic (purple symbols) and midwter trawl (white symbols) samples in the 2016 acoustic survey of Lake Michigan.

since 2012. The biomass density of age-1 or older alewife was 3.2 kg/ha (Figure 2), which was 33% of the long-term mean and similar to biomass density in 2015. The biomass of alewife  $\geq$  age-1 was predominantly the 2015 (48%), 2012 (33%), and 2013 (12%) year classes, respectively. The 2010, 2011, and 2014 year classes together made up the remaining 7%. Although the 2015 alewife year class had below average density in 2015, estimated survival [0.49, N<sub>t+1</sub>/N<sub>t</sub>, Ricker 1955)] to age-1 was more than twice the average for other year classes. The acoustic biomass density estimate for all alewife was approximately 40 times the bottom trawl estimate in 2016 (Bunnell et al. 2017) and over the time series (years in which both surveys took place), the acoustic estimates have been greater than the bottom trawl estimates 81% of the time (17 years). During the previous 16 years, acoustic biomass estimates were between 1.2 (2001) and 25 (2015) times the bottom trawl estimate for the same year. Although we observed lower than average density of alewife in Lake Michigan, the density is still much higher than the density of alewife in Lake Huron as no alewife were caught during the Lake Huron acoustic survey (O'Brien et al. 2017).

Spatial patterns in YOY and YAO alewife appear to be relatively complex (Figure 3). Highest numeric densities of YOY alewife were observed far offshore at a midlake transect but there were also high densities observed in eastern and southern nearshore transects. West nearshore and north nearshore transects densities were generally low. In contrast, YAO alewife numeric densities were highest and similar at a southern nearshore transect north of Holland and northern nearshore transect east of Washington Island, WI but there were also relatively high densities observed at several transects south along the Wisconsin shoreline. Additionally, large alewife (> 100 mm) have become less ubiquitous from 2013 to 2016, with most of the decline in density we have observed occurring offshore (Figure 4). Densities of YAO alewife at bottom depths > 100 m have declined more than at shallower bottom depths (Figure 5)


*Figure 2. Biomass density of age-1 or older alewife (left panel) and Numeric density of age-0 alewife (right panel) in Lake Michigan during 1992-1996 and 2001-2016. Error bars show one standard error.* 



*Figure 3. Map of numeric density of YOY alewife (left map) and YAO alewife (right map) during August 2016. Symbol size corresponds to the acoustic estimate of density.* 



Figure 4. Map of presence and absence of large alewife (>100 mm) in Lake Michigan during the years 2013-2016.



*Figure 5. Mean numeric density of YAO alewife in Lake Michigan at a range of bottom depths in the years 2013-2016.* 

<u>Rainbow smelt</u> –At 178 fish/ha, numeric density of small rainbow smelt (<90 mm) in 2016 (Figure 6) was five times that in 2015. This density was 88% of the time series mean of 203 fish/ha. Similarly, at 0.9 kg/ha, biomass density of large rainbow smelt ( $\geq$ 90 mm) increased from that observed in 2015. This was the first increase in the biomass density of larger smelt since 2008. Even though acoustic biomass density estimates of large smelt have always exceeded bottom trawl estimates, both surveys show there has been an order of magnitude decrease from 1992-1996 to 2001-2014 (Bunnell et al. 2015). Recent low biomass is in stark contrast to observations from the late 1980s (Argyle 1992) but are consistent with the findings of Warner et al. (2012), who reported a shift in the pelagic fish community away from rainbow smelt numeric dominance in the mid-1990s following this period of dominance in the late 1980s. In addition to highlighting the large decline in rainbow smelt biomass in Lake Michigan, data from recent years provide strong evidence that biomass density in Lake Michigan is lower than in Lake Huron, where the 2015 acoustic estimate of large rainbow smelt biomass density was 34 times that in Lake Michigan (O'Brien et al. 2016).

Spatial patterns in rainbow smelt density differed from alewife. Throughout much of the southern portion of the lake densities of small rainbow smelt were zero or near zero, but most transects in the northern third of the lake had densities at or near average density and three nearshore transects between Ludington, MI and Grand Haven, MI also had relatively high densities. Densities of large rainbow smelt were zero throughout most of the lake and highest densities were observed in northern nearshore areas (Figure 7).



Figure 6. Biomass density of large rainbow smelt ( $\geq$ 90 mm, left panel) and numeric density of small rainbow smelt (<90 mm, right panel) in Lake Michigan during 1992-1996 and 2001-2016. Error bars show one standard error.



*Figure 7. Map of numeric density of small rainbow smelt (<90 mm total length, left map) and large rainbow smelt (right map) during August 2016. Symbol size corresponds to the acoustic estimate of density.* 

<u>Bloater</u> –Densities of both small and large bloater have been variable in 2001-2016. Mean numeric density of small bloater in 2016 (307 fish/ha) was 2 times the time series mean (Figure 8). Biomass density of large bloater in 2016 was 0.5 kg/ha, which was 7% of the time series mean, and 2% of the mean in 1992-1996. Bloater biomass has been only 14% of total prey fish biomass density in 2001-2016, on average. This is in contrast to the 1992-1996 period, when bloater made up 48% of total prey fish biomass density. For much of the acoustic time series (1992-2006), estimates of biomass density of large bloater were lower than estimates from the bottom trawl survey. From 2007-2014, acoustic estimates have been nearly five times bottom trawl estimates, on average (Bunnell et al. 2015) but in 2016, the estimates were similar (0.5 kg/ha for the acoustic survey and 0.7 kg/ha for the bottom trawl survey).

Spatial patterns in bloater indicated different distributions for small and large bloater (Figure 9). Highest densities of small bloater were generally in the southern two-thirds of the lake, with the maximum observed north of Holland, MI and average or higher densities at most transects in the southeastern nearshore. However, we also observed densities of a similar magnitude at an offshore transect east of the base of the Door Peninsula in WI, and a southern offshore transect west of Holland, MI. The highest densities of large bloater were generally in the northern half of the lake with many locations in the southern half of the lake near zero. As with small bloater, the maximum density was observed at a southeastern nearshore transect north of Holland, MI.



Figure 8. Biomass density of large bloater ( $\geq$ 120 mm, left panel) from 1992-2016 (left panel), biomass density of large bloater for the years 2001-2016 (middle panel), and numeric density of small bloater (<120 mm, right panel) in Lake Michigan. Error bars show one standard error.



*Figure 9.* Map of numeric density of small bloater (<120 mm total length, left map) and large bloater (right map) during August 2016. Symbol size corresponds to the acoustic estimate of density.

## ASSUMPTIONS

As with any survey, it is important to note that trawl or acoustic estimates of fish density are potentially biased and, when possible, we should describe the effects of any bias when interpreting results. With acoustic sampling, areas near the surface (upper blind zone 0-4 m) or near the bottom (bottom dead zone, bottom 0.3-1 m) are not sampled well or at all. The density of fish in these areas therefore is unknown. Recent technological advances allow for acoustic sampling of the upper blind zone over large spatial areas but the cost of this technology has been prohibitive. While our highest alewife and rainbow smelt catches and catch-per-unit-effort with midwater tows generally occur near the thermocline in Lake Michigan (Warner et al. 2008; Warner et al. 2012), it is possible that some are located in the top 4 m and can't be captured with trawls because the ship displaces this water and the fish.

We are less concerned with bias in alewife and rainbow smelt densities attributable to ineffective acoustic sampling of the bottom because of their pelagic distribution at night, when our sampling occurs. In Lake Michigan, day-night bottom trawling was conducted at numerous locations and depths in 1987 (Argyle 1992), with day and night tows occurring on the same day. These data indicate that night bottom trawl estimates of alewife density in August/September 1987 were only 6% of day estimates (D.M. Warner, unpublished data). Similarly, night bottom trawl estimates of rainbow smelt density were  $\approx 6\%$  of day estimates. However, bloaters tend to be more demersal; in Lake Superior, night acoustic/midwater trawl sampling may detect only 60% of bloater present (Yule et al. 2007). The day-night bottom trawl data from Lake Michigan in 1987 suggested that the availability of bloater to acoustic sampling at night was somewhat higher (mean = 76%, D. M. Warner, unpublished data). Slimy sculpins (*Cottus cognatus*) and deepwater sculpins (*Myoxocephalus thompsonii*) are poorly sampled acoustically and we must rely on bottom trawl estimates of species and size composition. Based on the relationship between trawling effort and uncertainty in species proportions observed by Warner et al. (2012), this assumption was likely reasonable.

We made additional assumptions about acoustic data not described above. For example, we assumed that all targets below 40 m with mean target strength (TS) > -45 dB were bloater. It is possible that this resulted in a slight underestimation of rainbow smelt density. We also assumed that conditions were suitable for use of *in situ* TS to estimate fish density, which could also lead to biased results if conditions are not suitable for measuring TS (Rudstam et al. 2009; Sawada et al. 1993) and biased TS estimates are used. However, we used the Nv index of Sawada et al. (1993) to identify areas where bias was likely. We assumed that noise levels did not contribute significantly to echo integration data and did not preclude detection of key organisms. This assumption was supported by our estimates of noise (Appendix 2). Detection limits were such that the smallest fish were detectable well below the depths they typically occupy. Finally, we have assumed that the estimates of abundance and biomass are relative and do not represent absolute measures. This assumption is supported by recent estimates of catchability derived from a multispecies age structured stock assessment model (Tsehaye et al. 2014). Even though subject to various biases, our stratified random sampling design and use of standardized data processing techniques allow for comparisons of prey fish abundance estimates between years and throughout the time series.

## Acknowledgments

We thank the crews of the research vessels M/V Spencer F. Baird, S/V Steelhead, and R/V Sturgeon as well as reviewers for their contributions to this work. Any use of trade, product, or firm names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government. A portion of the funding for this work is provided through the Sport Fish Restoration Project #230485.

## NOTICE

The data associated with this report have not received final approval by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) and are currently under review. The Great Lakes Science Center is committed to complying with the Office of Management and Budget data release requirements and providing the public with high quality scientific data. We plan to make all USGS research vessel data collected between 1958 and 2016 publicly available from the GLSC website later in 2017. The anticipated citation will be <u>http://doi.org/10.5066/F75M63X0</u>. Please direct any immediate questions to our Information Technology Specialist, Scott Nelson, at <u>snelson@usgs.gov</u>.

All GLSC sampling and handling of fish during research are carried out in accordance with guidelines for the care and use of fishes by the American Fisheries Society (<u>http://fisheries.org/docs/wp/Guidelines-for-Use-of-Fishes.pdf</u>).

Species	Density	RSE (%)	95% CI
Total alewife	3.9 kg/ha	15	(2.9, 5.0)
Age-0 alewife	468 fish/ha	31	(219, 717)
YAO alewife	3.2 kg/ha	17	(2.3, 4.1)
Rainbow smelt	286 fish/ha	15	(212, 361)
Bloater	0.8 kg/ha	21	(0.5, 1.1)
Total	5.5 kg/ha	14	(4.2, 6.8)

Table 1. Numeric or biomass density, RSE, and 95% CI for age-0, YAO, total alewife, rainbow smelt, and bloater estimated from acoustic and midwater trawl data collected in Lake Michigan in 2016.

## REFERENCES

Adams, J.V., R.L. Argyle, G.W. Fleischer, G.L. Curtis, and R.G. Stickel. 2006. Improving the design of acoustic and midwater trawl surveys through stratification, with an application to Lake Michigan prey fishes. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 26:612-621.

Argyle, R.L. 1992. Acoustics as a tool for the assessment of Great Lakes Forage fishes. Fisheries Research 14:179-196.

Bunnell, D.B., C.P. Madenjian, T.J. DeSorcie, and J.V. Adams. 2015. Status and trends of preyfish populations in Lake Michigan, 2013. A report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Michigan Committee, Ypsilanti, MI 2015.

Bunnell, D.B., C.P. Madenjian, T.J. DeSorcie, M.J. Kostich, P. Armenio, and J.V. Adams. 2017. Status and trends of preyfish populations in Lake Michigan, 2016. A report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Michigan Committee, Ypsilanti, MI 2017.

Elliott, R.F. 1993. Feeding habits of Chinook salmon in eastern Lake Michigan. M.Sc. thesis. Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI.

Fabrizio, M.C., J.V. Adams, and G.L. Curtis. 1997. Assessing prey fish populations in Lake Michigan: comparison of simultaneous acoustic-midwater trawling with bottom trawling. Fisheries Research 33:37-54.

Fleischer, G.W., R.L. Argyle, and G.L. Curtis. 1997. In situ relations of target strength to fish size for Great Lakes pelagic planktivores. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 126:784-796.

Fleischer, G.W., J. Dettmers, and R.M. Claramunt. 2001. Original acoustics LWAP adopted by the Lake Michigan Technical Committee at the summer 2001 meeting in Sturgeon Bay, Wisconsin.

Jacobs, G.R., C.P. Madenjian, D.B. Bunnell, D.M. Warner, and R.M. Claramunt. 2013. Chinook salmon foraging patterns in a changing Lake Michigan. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142:362-372.

Madenjian, C.P., G.L. Fahnenstiel, T.H. Johengen, T.F. Nalepa, H.A. Vanderploeg, G.W. Fleischer, P.J. Schneeberger, D.M. Benjamin, E.B. Smith, J.R. Bence, E.S. Rutherford, D.S. Lavis, D.M. Robertson, D.J. Jude, and M.P. Ebener. 2002. Dynamics of the Lake Michigan food web, 1970-2000. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 59:736-753.

Madenjian, C.P., T.O. Höök, E.S. Rutherford, D.M. Mason, T.E. Croley II, E.B. Szalai, and J.R. Bence. 2005. Recruitment variability of alewives in Lake Michigan. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 134:218-230.

O'Brien, T.P, Warner, D.M., Lenart, S. Esselman, P., Ogilvie, L., and Olds, C. 2016. Status and trends of pelagic fish in Lake Huron 2016. A report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Huron Committee Milwaukee, WI, March, 2016

O'Brien, T.P, P. Esselman, L. Ogilvie, S. Farha, 2017. Status and trends of pelagic fish in Lake Huron 2016. A report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Huron Committee Ypsilanti, MI, March, 2017.

Ricker, W. E. 1955. Computation And Interpretation Of Biological Statistics Of Fish Populations. Bulletin of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 191.

Rybicki, R.W., and D.F. Clapp. 1996. Diet of Chinook salmon in eastern Lake Michigan, 1991-1993. Michigan Department of Natural Resources, Fisheries Division. Research Report 2027, Ann Arbor, MI.

Sawada, K., M. Furusawa, and N.J. Williamson. 1993. Conditions for the precise measurement of fish target strength in situ. Journal of the Marine Acoustical Society of Japan 20:73–79.

Tsehaye, I., M.L. Jones, J.R. Bence, T.O. Brendan, C.P. Madenjian, and D.M. Warner. 2014. A multispecies statistical age-structured model to assess predator-prey balance: application to an intensively managed Lake Michigan fish community. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 71:627-644.

Warner, D.M., S. Farha, T.P. O'Brien, L. Ogilvie, R.M. Claramunt, and D. Hanson. 2014. Status of pelagic prey fish in Lake Michigan, 2013. A report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Michigan Committee, Windsor, ON, March, 2014.

Warner, D.M., R.M. Claramunt, J.S. Schaeffer, D.L. Yule, T.R. Hrabik, B. Pientka, L.G. Rudstam, J.D. Holuszko, and T.P. O'Brien. 2012. Relationship between mid-water trawling effort and catch composition uncertainty in two large lakes (Huron and Michigan) dominated by alosines, osmerids, and coregonines. Fisheries Research 123/124:62-69.

Warner, D.M., R.M. Claramunt, D.F. Clapp, and C.S. Kiley. 2008. The influence of alewife year-class strength on prey selection and abundance of age-1 Chinook salmon in Lake Michigan. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 137:1683-1700.

Warner, D.M., R.M. Claramunt, C. Faul, and T.P. O'Brien. 2005. Status of pelagic prey fish in Lake Michigan, 2001-2004. A report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Lake Michigan Committee, Ypsilanti, MI March , 2005.

Warner, D.M., J.S. Schaeffer, and T.P. O'Brien. 2009. The Lake Huron pelagic fish community: persistent spatial pattern along biomass and species composition gradients. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 66:1199-1215.

Yule, D.L., J.V. Adams, J.D. Stockwell, and O.T. Gorman. 2008. Factors affecting bottom trawl catches: implications for monitoring the fishes of Lake Superior. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 28:109-123.

Yule, D.L., J.V. Adams, J.D. Stockwell, and O.T. Gorman. 2007. Using multiple gears to assess acoustic detectability and biomass of fish species in Lake Superior. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 27:106-126.

Parameter	Dual beam 1992-	Dual beam 2001-	2016 Split <sup>2</sup>
	1996	$2005^{1}$	
TS threshold (dB)	-60	-77 <sup>3</sup>	-77
Pulse length determination level (dB)	6	6	6
Minimum normalized pulse length	0.32	0.8	0.7
Maximum normalized pulse length	0.72	1.8	1.5
Maximum beam compensation (dB)	6	6	6
Maximum standard deviation of minor-axis angles	NA	NA	0.6
Maximum standard deviation of major-axis angles	NA	NA	0.6
Over-axis angle threshold (dB)	NA	-1.0	NA

Appendix 1. Single target detection parameters used in acoustic data analyses in 1992-1996, 2001-2005, and 2016.

<sup>1</sup>Dual beam system was only used on the MDNR vessel Steelhead in 2001-2005.

<sup>2</sup>Split beam systems were used on all vessels in 2006-2014. <sup>3</sup>Although a lower threshold was used in 2001-2014 only targets  $\geq$ -60 dB were included in analyses. The lower threshold was used in the event that efforts were made to include smaller fish.

Appendix 2. Noise levels (mean and range of Sv at 1 m),	detection limits, and acoustic equipment specifications in
2016 for the R/V Sturgeon, S/V Steelhead, and M/V Spenc	er F. Baird.

= • - • - • - • • • • • • • • • • • • •						
Vessel	<b>R/V</b> Sturgeon	S/V Steelhead	M/V Spencer F. Baird			
Collection software	Visual Acquisition	Visual Acquisition	ER60 2.2			
	6.0	6.0				
Transducer beam angle (3dB)	8.3° split beam	6.9° split beam	6.18 ° split beam			
Frequency (kHz)	120	123	120			
Pulse length (ms)	0.4	0.4	0.256			
Two-way equivalent beam angle (dB)	-19.34	-20	-20.5			
Sv detection limit (m) for -60 dB	>100	>100	>100 m			
target <sup>1</sup>						

<sup>1</sup>Assuming 3 dB signal-to-noise ratio.